

tuzionale della ricerca - Università di Palern



Dipartimento DEMETRA Dottorato in Frutticoltura Mediterranea (SSD AGR03) XXII ciclo

Water status, growth, yield and fruit quality of 'Valencia' orange trees under partial root-zone drying

Dottorando: AMR MOSSAD ABDELMAKSOUD ABDELBARY

Tutor:

Dott. Riccardo Lo Bianco

Coordinatore del Dottorato:

Prof. M.A. Germanà, coordinator of the PhD





Department DEMETRA International PhD course in Mediterranean Fruit Crops (SSD AGR03) XXII round

Water status, growth, yield and fruit quality of 'Valencia' orange trees under partial root-zone drying

Student: AMR MOSSAD ABDELMAKSOUD ABDELBARY

Dr. Riccardo Lo Bianco, Advisor

Prof. M.A. Germanà, PhD coordinator

March, 2011

CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES II		
LIST OF FIGURES V		
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS IX		
ACKNOWLEDGMENT XI		
ABSTRACT		
1. L	ITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1.	Climate of Sicily and citrus growing conditions	1
1.2. General concepts of irrigation		2
	1.2.1. Irrigation scheduling	2
	1.2.2. Water budgeting for irrigation scheduling	4
	1.2.3. Evapotranspiration (ET)	5
	1.2.4. Reference crop evapotranspiration	6
	1.2.5. Crop coefficient (K _c)	8
	1.2.6. Crop evapotranspiration (ETc)	8
1.3.	Basics of water relations in plants	9
	1.3.1. The soil-plant-water-atmosphere continuum (SPAC)	9
	1.3.2. Water potential concepts	11
1.4.	Photosynthesis and transpiration	
	1.4.1. Water use efficiency (WUE)	12
	1.4.2. Stomata hydraulics	13
1.5.	Deficit irrigation	15

	1.5.1.	Regulated deficit irrigation (RDI)	15	
	1.5.2.	Citrus trees and water stress	16	
	1.5.3.	RDI studies on other crops	19	
	1.5.4.	Partial root-zone drying (PRD)	19	
	1.5.5.	The role of abscisic acid (ABA)	21	
	1.5.6.	Previous studies on PRD	22	
EXPI	ERIMEN	NTAL PART		
2.1.	INTR	ODUCTION	24	
2.2.	MATERIAL AND METHODS		27	
	2.2.1.	Experimental site	27	
	2.2.2.	Irrigation treatments and experimental design	28	
	2.2.3.	Climate, water requirement and water status	28	
	2.2.4.	Growth measurement	30	
	2.2.5.	Yield and fruit quality	30	
	2.2.6.	Data analysis	32	
2.3.	RESULTS		33	
	2.3.1.	Climate, irrigation volumes and soils moisture	33	
	2.3.2.	Tree water status and stomatal conductance	37	
	2.3.3.	Fruit and shoot growth	46	
	2.3.4.	Yield and fruit quality	50	
2.4.	DISC	USSION	54	
2.5.	CON	CONCLUSIONS		
REF	ERENCE	ES	60	

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 2.1 Soil properties at the experimental site.	27
Table 2.2 Characteristics of the micro-sprinklers used in the experiment.	28
Table 2.3 Harvest dates and picks of the three crop seasons.	30
Table 2.4 Period and total volumes of the three irrigation seasons.	33
Table 2.5 Leaf relative water content (%) of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means ± standard errors.	38
Table 2.6 Production of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means \pm standard errors. The bottom section reports P- values from analysis of variance (ANOVA). When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among levels of a given factor (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05)	50
Table 2.7. Fruit quality of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means \pm standard errors. The bottom section reports P-values from analysis of variance (ANOVA). When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among levels of a given factor (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).	52
Table 2.8. Total carotenoids and vitamin C in juice and fruits of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means ± standard errors. When present, lower-case letters indicate significant	53

III

differences among irrigation treatments and within each column (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).

Tab.2. 9. Fruit, juice, and sugar water use efficiency (WUE) of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) in the three years of observations. Means \pm standard errors. The bottom section reports P-values from analysis of variance (ANOVA). When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among levels of a given factor (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).

53

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1.1. Components of water budget for a micro-irrigated citrus tree (adapted from FAO series 2, 1997)	6
Figure 1.2. Radiation and water balance on a plant under localized irrigation (adapted from FAO series 2, 1997)	6
Figure 1.3. Weather variables affecting evaporation, transpiration and soil moisture uptake by roots (adapted from FAO series 2, 1997)	6
Figure 1.4. Components of the transpiration pathway for a typical tree from the roots to the leaves (from Dzikiti, 2007). The detailed characteristics of each component are shown on the left hand side of the diagram.	14
Figure 1.5. Schematic diagram shows how roots might interact with drying soil to generate chemical signals in the xylem in a typical partial root- zone drying setting.	21
Fig. 2.1. Distribution of total monthly rainfall and reference evapotranspiration during the three years of observations at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily.	34
 Fig. 2.2. Water losses and inputs (A) recorded in summer 2007 at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily. Soil water potential in the rootzone of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), continuous deficit irrigation (DI), and partial rootzone drying (PRD, average of wet and dry side; panel B) and in the two sides of the rootzone of trees under PRD (C) during the 2007 irrigation season. 	35
Fig. 2.3. Water losses and inputs (A) recorded in summer 2008 at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily. Soil water potential in the rootzone of 'Valencia' orange trees	36

under conventional irrigation (CI), continuous deficit irrigation (DI),

and partial rootzone drying (PRD, average of wet and dry side; panel B) and in the two sides of the rootzone of trees under PRD (C) during the 2008 irrigation season.

- Fig. 2.4. Water losses and inputs (A) recorded in summer 2009 at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily. Soil water potential in the rootzone of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), continuous deficit irrigation (DI), and partial rootzone drying (PRD, average of wet and dry side; panel B) and in the two sides of the rootzone of trees under PRD (C) during the 2009 irrigation season.
- Fig.2.5. Relative water content (RWC) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 and 2009 irrigation seasons. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).
- Fig.2.6. Stomatal conductance (g_s) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under40conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and40continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of40observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means.40When present, different letters indicate significant differences among40irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).</td>40
- Fig.2.7. Relationship between vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and stomatal 41 conductance (g_s) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 sampling period. In CI, gs = 92.5 - 18.0*VPD (P < 0.001); in PRD, gs = 103.2 - 28.5*VPD (P < 0.001); in DI, gs = 88.3 - 20.6*VPD (P < 0.001).
- Fig.2.8. Relationship between vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and stomatal

42

37

39

conductance (gs) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. In CI, $g_s = 102.6 - 22.8 * VPD$ (P < 0.001); in PRD, gs = 131.6 - 37.4 *VPD (P < 0.001); in DI, gs = 114.5 - 32.2 * VPD (P < 0.001).

- Fig.2.9. Relationship between stomatal conductance (g_s) and relative water 43 content (RWC) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 sampling period. In PRD, RWC = 89.7 – 0.057 * gs (P = 0.008); in DI, RWC = 87.1 – 0.045 * g_s (P = 0.015).
- Fig.2.10. Relationship between stomatal conductance (gs) and relative water 43 content (RWC) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. In PRD, RWC = 69.8 + 4.42 * ln[gs] (P < 0.001).
- Fig.2.11. Relationship between vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and relative water 44 content (RWC) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. In CI, RWC = 90.8 * (1-0.164VPD) (P = 0.002); in PRD, RWC = 91.5 * (1-0.172VPD) (P < 0.001); in DI, RWC = 89.6 * (1-0.160VPD) (P < 0.001).
- Fig.2.12. Relationship between soil water potential (SWP) and leaf stomatal 45 conductance (g_s) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 sampling period. Gs = 80.5 + 0.31*SWP (P = 0.018).

Fig.2.13. Relationship between soil water potential (SWP) and leaf stomatal 45

conductance (g_s) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. Gs = 49.6 + 217*1.04SWP (P = 0.001).

Fig.2.14. Fruit diameter of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation 47 (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

48

- Fig.2.15. Fruit relative growth rate (RGR) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means.
 When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).
- Fig.2.16. Shoot relative elongation rate (RER) of 'Valencia' orange trees under 49 conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

VIII

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

ABA	Abscisic Acid
B.D.	Bulk density
CI	Conventional irrigation
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
c _p	The specific heat of the air;
DI	Continuous Deficit Irrigation
DW	Dry weight
Е	Water flux
IRR	irrigation
e _a	actual vapor pressure (kPa)
es	saturation vapor pressure for a given time period (kPa)
ET	Evapotranspiration
ET _c	Crop evapotranspiration
ETo	Reference evapotranspiration
F.C.	Field capacity
FW	Fresh weight
G	Soil heat flux (MJ $m^{-2} d^{-1}$);
gs	Stomatal Conductance
Kc	Crop coefficient
PRD	Partial rootzone drying
PVPP	Polyvinylpolypyrrolidone
r _a	Aerodynamic resistance (s m ⁻¹)
RDI	Regulated Deficit Irrigation
RER	Relative elongation rate
RGR	Fruit relative growth rate
R _{leaf}	Resistance to leaf
R _n	The net radiation (MJ $m^{-2} d^{-1}$)
R _{root}	Resistance to root
r _s	Surface or canopy resistance (s m ⁻¹)

R _{soil}	Resistance to soil
R _{total}	Total resistance
RWC	Relative water content
R _{xylem}	Resistance to xylem
SPAC	Soil-Plant-Atmosphere Continuum
SWP	Soil water potential
Т	Air temperature at 2 m height [°C],
TA	Titratable acidity
TCSA	Trunk cross-sectional area, cm ²
TSS	Total soluble solids
u ₂	Wind speed at 2 m height (m s ⁻¹)
VPD	Vapor pressure deficit
W.P.	Wilting point
WUE	Water use efficiency
γ	Psychrometric constant (kPa C ⁻¹)
Δ	Slope of saturation vapor pressure $(kPa^{\circ}C^{-1})$
λΕΤ	Latent heat of flux (MJkg ⁻¹)
$ ho_a$	Air density (kg m ⁻³)
Ψ	water potential
Ψ_{g}	The gravitational potential
Ψ_l	Leaf Water Potential
$\Psi_{\rm m}$	The matric potential
$\Psi_{\rm p}$	Pressure or hydrostatic potential
Ψ_{s}	The osmotic potential
Ψ_{stem}	Stem Water Potential

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

In the first place I would like to record my gratitude to professor Riccaro Lo Bianco for his supervision, advice, and guidance from the very early stage of this research as well as giving me extraordinary experiences throughout the work. Above all and the most needed, he provided me unflinching encouragement and support in various ways.

Special thanks to professor Luigi Di Marco and professor Maria A. Germanà, coordinators of the course, for their technical support, persistence, understanding, kindness, and for sharing their scientific ideas and experience until I completed this work.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to Prof. Dr. Abdel-Ghany M. El-Gindy, Prof. Emeritus of Agricultural Engineering, Faculty of Agriculture, Ain Shams University and Prof. Dr. Ahmed Mohamed El-Araby, Prof. Emeritus of Soil Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Ain Shams University for their valuable discussions, suggestions, and helpful criticisms, which helped me to finalize this work.

I would like to thank the following staff and colleague in the department for their technical assistance and for the provision of equipment and facilities during this research project. My thanks to Dr. Vittorio Farina, Dr. Davide Francaviglia, Dr. Giovanni Liarda, Dr. Roberto Massenti.

I would like to express my gratitude to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Italy, for giving me the financial assistance. I recognize that this research would not have been possible without such assistance.

I am extremely thankful to my mother and all my family for their patience during my long stay away from them Thank you, I am here because you are behind me.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to all those others who provided assistance during my time at the University of Palermo.

ABSTRACT

The Citrus genus includes tropical and subtropical species, which, as a group, represent an important share of the world economy. The sustainable production of citrus depends on the availability of adequate water throughout the year. Insufficient and non uniform water supply for irrigation in many parts of the world are leading to an increased effort toward the improvement of water use efficiency (WUE), including more efficient irrigation strategies. This study was conducted to evaluate the effect of partial rootzone drying (PRD) on water status, growth, yield and fruit quality of adult 'Valencia' orange trees. Three irrigation strategies were used during three crop seasons starting in spring 2007 and ending with the harvest of the third crop, in spring 2010. Treatments were conventional irrigation (CI) where water at 100% of crop evapotranspiration was applied to entire root-zone, partial root-zone drying (PRD) where 50% of CI water was applied to one alternated side of the root-zone, and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) where 50% of CI water was applied to both sides of the root-zone. Climate parameters and soil water potential (SWP) were monitored continuously; relative water content (RWC), stomatal conductance (g_s), fruit and shoot growth were monitored at regular intervals during the irrigation periods; yield and fruit quality was determined each year at harvest. RWC and g_s reductions under reduced irrigation were sporadic and varied depending on the year. No shoot growth reduction was observed in response to deficit irrigation treatments, whereas fruit size was consistently reduced by DI particularly in 2008. Yield parameters were generally not affected by irrigation, although DI trees tended to have lower yield, number of fruits, and yield efficiency than CI and PRD trees. Fruits of DI trees were smaller than those of CI trees. Fruits of DI trees also yielded less juice than fruits of CI and PRD trees, whereas juice of DI and PRD fruits showed higher soluble solids, acidity, vitamin C and carotenoids than juice of CI fruits. No significant difference was found between PRD and DI in terms of WUE, although PRD values were always higher on the average. Overall, our results suggest that PRD irrigation may represent a valid strategy for cultivation of oranges in the Mediterranean, while continuous deficit irrigation eventually causes a stress response, resulting in fruit size and juice yield reductions.

Keyword:

Citrus sinensis; crop WUE; deficit irrigation; PRD; peel color; relative water content; stomatal conductance; vitamin C

1

GENERAL PART

Literature Review

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Climate of Sicily and citrus growing conditions

Exhaustive information is provided on citrus species grown in different countries of the world with different climates, soils, and harvesting seasons. Tree growth and fruit development require adequate light, water and appropriate temperature. Citrus is produced best under a mild subtropical climate. The best-quality fruit is produced in the Mediterranean climate, which is characterized by relatively dry (low rainfall), hot summers, and cool, wet periods (winter rains) during fruit maturity, in winter. When grown in this climate, fruits express relatively high sugar content and acidity, as well as uniform and intense peel color, as insect-pest problems on young fruit are generally few or of minor intensity (Milind, 2008).

Sicily can be defined as an area of typical Mediterranean climate (mild and rainy winters and hot and dry summers). In most part of the territory, the average annual rainfall is between 500-700 mm. The average temperature is around 26 $^{\circ}$ C in summer (July – August), whereas the minimum temperature occurs between December and February with an average of 10-14 $^{\circ}$ C (Cartabellotta et al., 1998).

Sicily possesses a favorable climate for growing a large number of cultivars of the major citrus species (53.9 % of total citrus production in Italy, ISTAT). The most commonly grown citrus in Sicily are sweet orange (*Citrus sinenis* L. Osbeck), lemon and mandarin. The major cultivars of sweet orange are 'Valencia' as processed blond, Navelina, Washington Navel (Ribera), Navelate, and New Hall as fresh-market blond, Moro, Tarocco, and Sanguinello as fresh and processed pigmented. A small amount of acidless oranges are also produced for the domestic market. Low temperatures are required for the development of the highly pigmented rind of oranges and mandarins (Spiegel-Roy and Goldschmidt, 1996). Blood orange varieties do well when grown in the Catania area (Barbagallo et al., 2007) as cool winter enhance the anthocyanin content and the red flesh color. Rainfall in Sicily generally satisfies citrus evapotranspirative demand only in fall, winter and in part of spring, whereas in summer precipitations are scarce and generally not adequate for citrus growing (Cartabellotta et al., 1998). Hence, careful irrigation management during summer is essential for a constant citrus production and viable industry.

1.2. General concepts of irrigation

Irrigation is the application of water to living plants. Uphoff, (1986) defines irrigation as a practice of applying water to the soil to supplement the natural rainfall and provide moisture for plant growth. According to FAO (1994), irrigation is defined as the artificial application of water to the crop for the purpose of food and fiber production overcoming deficiencies in rainfall and help in creating stabilized agriculture.

1.2.1. Irrigation scheduling

The irrigation scheduling indicates how much irrigation water has to be given to the crop, and how often or when water is given. This ensures that water is applied to the crop when needed with the required amount (Brouwer et al., 1989; Evans et al., 1991). There are many factors to consider when determining a successful irrigation schedule according to (Doorenbos and Kassam 1979; Vedula and Nagesh Kumar 1996; Fereres and Evans, 2006) such as:

- Soil water holding capacity;
- Crop water use and crop sensitivity to moisture stress at different growth stages;
- Effective rainfall and availability of irrigation water.
- Prevailing climatic norms.

Water availability strongly influences flowering and fruit set and can affect fruit drop, fruit size, yield, internal fruit quality characteristics and canopy development (Falivene et al., 2006). Therefore, the planning of seasonal supply of the available amount of water must be directed towards meeting the water requirements of the plant during the most sensitive growth stages instead of spreading the available water to the plant equally over the all growing periods. For the non-sensitive growth stages, the amount of water allocated must be sufficient enough to prevent any effect on the yield and quality.

Reducing water supply during the initial and final stages of fruit development will delay size increases in lemons (*C.limon*), however, the final yield will be unaffected (Torrecills et al., 1993).

Koo (1969), Tucker (1986), and Parsons (1989) reported that optimal citrus production requires the maintenance of available soil water during the growing stages as follows:

- 1. **Flowering, fruit setting** and new flush development should have good soil moisture by applying water if rain does not fall at this time;
- 2. **Fruit development:** Fruit development: remarked by a high transpiration therefore, water deficiency would influence photosynthesis and consequently water requirements will be very high;
- 3. **Fruit maturation:** a high moisture content may have a harmful effect on fruit quality and flower initiation so that, it is recommended to reduce the soil water content at this stage and the soil should be kept fairly dry;
- 4. **Post-harvest:** after the crop has been harvested, trees require less amounts of water to restore growth.

On the other hand, irrigation scheduling saves water, energy, labor and maximizes yield response to other management practices. A careful use of irrigation water may also

help reduce pollution and environmental risks (Ali, 2010). Irrigation scheduling can also help prevent several problems (Trimmer and Hansen, 1994), such as:

- 1- Water loss by deep percolation
- 2- Soil salinity
- 3- Water availability for irrigation
- 4- Low crop yield

Wample and Smithyman (2002) define the irrigation management as a tool for improving the production that can have many goals such as, control of tree vigor, prevention of occasional periods of water stress, improvement of fruit quality through its influence on the content of soluble solids and pH.

1.2.2. Water budgeting for irrigation scheduling

Irrigation scheduling involves determining both the timing of irrigation and the quantity of water to apply. It is an essential daily management practice for a farm manager growing irrigated crops. Proper timing of irrigation can be done by monitoring the soil water content or monitoring the crop in the field. Plant stress responses provide the most direct measure of identifying the plant demand for water. However, it should be noted that while plant stress indicators provide a direct measure of when water is required, they do not provide a direct volumetric measure of the volume of water required to be applied.

The crop water requirement is defined as the amount of water required to compensate the water loss from the cropped field (Allen et al., 1998). Many researchers describe it as the total water needed for evapotranspiration (ET). Therefore, the water requirement can be decided by determining the actual ET.

The crop water requirement can be related to the amount of water used by a reference crop. The reference crop typically is grass or alfalfa that is well irrigated and

cov-ers 100 % of the ground. The reference evapotranspiration (ET_0) includes the water evaporated from the soil surface and the water transpired by the plants.

The daily ET_o can also be calculated from daily climate data like temperature, wind speed, sunshine and relative humidity. There are several methods used to calculate or measure ET_o . The most common methods are Penman method, Pan Evaporation and Blaney-Criddle method. The climate data can be obtained from a weather station.

The successful irrigation scheduling requires good understanding to the knowledge of soil water holding capacity, crop water use, and crop sensitivity to moisture stress at different growth stages. This requires consideration about the effective rainfall and availability of irrigation water (Waskom, 1994).

A good irrigation schedule requires an accurate quantification of ET. The most common approach to calculate ET is given by multiplying ET_o by the crop coefficient (k_c) which depends on ground cover and crop characteristics (Doorenbos and Pruitt, 1977; Allen et al., 1998; Villalobos et al., 2000). Figure 1.1 shows the components of the water budget for a micro-irrigated citrus tree.

1.2.3. Evapotranspiration (ET)

Evapotranspiration is a term used to describe the combined process between evaporation from soil and plant surfaces transpiration through canopies to atmosphere. Numerous factors must be considered when estimating ET (Fig. 1.1and 1.3), the major ones are:

- 1- Solar radiation;
- 2- Air temperature;
- 3- Wind speed;
- 4- Humidity.



Figure 1.1. Components of water budget for a micro-irrigated citrus tree (adapted from FAO series 2, 1997).



Figure 1.2. Radiation and water balance on a plant under localized irrigation (adapted from FAO series 2, 1997).



Figure 1.3. Weather variables affecting evaporation, transpiration and soil moisture uptake by roots (adapted from FAO series 2, 1997).

1.2.4. Reference crop evapotranspiration

The international FAO definition of 'reference crop' evapotranspiration is the evapotranspiration rate from a hypothetical reference crop with an assumed crop height of 0.12 m, a fixed surface resistance of 70 sec m⁻¹ and an albedo of 0.23, closely resembling the evapotranspiration from an extensive surface of green grass of uniform height, actively growing, well-watered, and completely shading the ground (Doorenbos & Pruitt, 1977).

The Penman-Monteith equation is valid for different agro-climatic regions, with a 10% margin of error (Allen et al., 1998).

$$\lambda ET = \frac{\Delta(R_n - G) + \rho_a c_p \frac{(e_s - e_a)}{r_a}}{\Delta + \gamma \left(1 + \frac{r_s}{r_a}\right)}$$

Where:

 λ ET: latent heat of flux "MJkg⁻¹;

 R_n : the net radiation "MJ m⁻² d⁻¹";

G: soil heat flux "MJ m-2 d-1";

pa: air density kg m-3;

cp: the specific heat of the air;

es: saturation vapor pressure for a given time period "kPa";

ea: actual vapor pressure "kPa";

(e_s - e_a): saturation vapor pressure deficit "kPa";

 Δ : slope of saturation vapor pressure "kPa°C⁻¹";

γ: psychrometric constant "kPa°C⁻¹";

r_s: surface or canopy resistance "s m⁻¹";

r_a: aerodynamic resistance "s m⁻¹"

From the original Penman-Monteith equation and the equations for aerodynamic and canopy resistance, the FAO Penman-Monteith equation has been derived as the following:

$$\mathsf{ET}_{o} = \frac{0.408\Delta(\mathsf{R}_{n} - \mathsf{G}) + \gamma \frac{900}{\mathsf{T} + 273}\mathsf{u}_{2}(\mathsf{e}_{s} - \mathsf{e}_{a})}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + 0.34\mathsf{u}_{2})}$$

Where:

ET_o: reference evapotranspiration [mm day⁻¹], T: air temperature at 2 m height [°C], u₂: wind speed at 2 m height [m s⁻¹],

1.2.5. Crop coefficient (K_c)

Allen et al. (1998) mentioned that in the arid and semi-arid regions of the Mediterranean, the recommended K_c values for citrus range from 0.70 in winter to 0.65 in summer with no ground cover. With growing ground cover or weed, the values range from 0.75 to 0.70, respectively for winter and summer.

The average yearly K_c value of 0.69 is in good agreement with reports from Arizona (Hoffman et al., 1982), Valencia (Castel and Buj, 1993), Cyprus (Eliades, 1994), Iran (Sepaskhah and Kashefipour, 1995), Crete (Chartzoulakis et al., 1999), California (Grismer, 2000) and Uruguay (Garcia Petillo and Castel, 2007).

Garcia Petillo and Castel, (2007) indicated that K_c has a clear seasonal trend. The minimum K_c is 0.60 in summer, intermediate values in autumn and spring (0.77 and 0.80, respectively) and a maximum of (0.87) in winter.

1.2.6. Crop evapotranspiration (ET_c)

By adopting a reference crop (grass), it has become easier and more practical to select consistent crop coefficients and to make reliable actual crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) estimates in new areas. The calculation of ET_c (mm day⁻¹) requires the selection of appropriate K_c for use with standardized reference evapotranspiration (Allen et al., 1998).

$$ET_c = K_c \times ET_o$$

1.3. Basics of water relations in plants

Water relations are important to the functioning of trees, as water is the greatest component of the active tree (by mass), and all biological processes and growth may be limited by an inappropriate water status (Lakso, 2003). Literature shows that changes in plant water relation parameters, like leaf water status and stomatal response, can be explained in terms of changes in the hydraulic architecture of trees (Tyree and Cochard, 1996; Salleo et al., 2000).

Plant water status is usually described by two basic parameters: the content of water in the plant or the energy status of the water in the plant, expressed as the (total) water potential, ψ (Kirkham, 2005). It can be regarded as a very sensitive indicator for the degree of water stress experienced by the plant (McCutchan and Shackel, 1992).

Different irrigation regimes and their effect on water relations have been studied in many tree crops and other perennial and annual plants. The emphasis of most studies has mainly been on yield, vegetative growth and water relations in response to reducing water supply. Citrus fruits are frequently grown in areas where water supply limits optimum growth and production. Many experiments considering water relation of citrus trees have been carried out under different conditions (Levy, 1980; Habermann et al., 2003; Pérez-Pérez et al., 2007). Although these results may be of scientific value, they are of limited applicability to orchard conditions due to different environmental conditions within orchards.

1.3.1. The soil-plant-water-atmosphere continuum (SPAC)

The Soil-Plant-Atmosphere Continuum (SPAC) is the pathway for water moving from soil through the plant to the atmosphere. The transport of water along this pathway occurs in components only as separate defined and differently between a scientific discipline in the environment (John, 1966):

- Soil physics characterizes soil water in terms of tension,
- Plant physiology characterizes plant water in terms of diffusion pressure deficit,
- Meteorology uses vapor pressure or relative humidity to characterize atmospheric water.

An analog of ohm's law was proposed to describe and analyze the path of water flow from the soil through plants, and the atmosphere (Van den Honert, 1948). The ability of plants to maintain a favorable water status depends on the resistance to water flow in the SPAC (Jones et al., 1982; Ruggiero et al., 2003).

Total resistance (R_{total}) in the water transport pathway in the SPAC controls water f low. The analogy equates water flux to an electrical current, the water phase to the electromotive force, the resistance to either liquid or gaseous diffusion, and water flux to an electrical resistance analog (Bravdo, 2000), e.g.,

$$E = \frac{\Delta \Psi_{soil-root\,surface}}{R_{soil}} = \frac{\Delta \Psi_{root\,surface-xylem}}{R_{root}} = \frac{\Delta \Psi_{xylem}}{R_{xylem}} = \frac{\Delta \Psi_{leaf-atmosphere}}{R_{leaf}}$$

Where E = water flux, $\Psi =$ water potential, $R_{soil} =$ resistance to soil, root, xylem and leaf.

The water absorbed by the root hairs is translocated upwards through the xylem. The ascent of sap or movement of water from root to leaf is explained by the cohesiontension theory. A number of theories have been put forward at various times to explain the mechanism of ascent of sap. These are (i) Vital theories, (ii) Root Pressure theory and (iii) Transpiration pull (Rajan, 2003).

1.3.2. Water potential concepts

Water potential denotes the state of water in the plant or soil as compared to that of pure water (0 MPa). It depends on three factors: concentration, pressure and gravity. The following equation expresses the components of water potential (Tromp et al., 2005):

$$\Psi_t = \Psi_p + \Psi_s + \Psi_g + \Psi_m$$

Where Ψ_p is the pressure or hydrostatic potential, Ψ_s the osmotic potential, Ψ_g the gravitational potential and Ψ_m the matric potential.

Leaf water potential (Ψ_1) and stomatal conductance (g_s) are responding to the interacting environmental factors such as radiation, temperature, availability of moisture and vapor pressure deficit (VPD) (Elfving et al., 1972; Hall et al., 1976; Pereira and Kozlowski, 1978). Such stomatal responses to VPD generally act to minimize the effect of changing environment on ET, and hence Ψ_1 . The response of leaf g_s to these environmental and edaphic parameters has been reviewed (Camacho, 1977). Fereres et al., (1979) showed that low Ψ soil had an overriding influence on leaf g_s . This relationship has been observed to various degrees by others (Kriedemann and Barrs, 1981). A humidity response is probably also involved in the gradual closure of stomata during the day as this has been observed in apple (Landsberg et al., 1975; Lakso, 1983; 1986) and in citrus (Sinclair and Allen, 1982; Cohen and Cohen, 1983).

Elfving et al., (1972) have shown a close positive correlation between Ψ_1 and transpiration rate of citrus. Subsequently, it has been shown that stomata opening results in immediate onset of transpiration which peaks late in the morning (Davies and Kozlowski, 1974 and Hall et al., 1975). However, water relations of citrus are also influenced to a large extent by high resistances to water transport within the plant. As the soil dries, and water uptake rate from the soil falls below the potential transpiration rate, so the actual transpiration rate falls. This situation arises when the soil-plant conducting system cannot sustain the rate of water loss driven by atmospheric demand, and so g_s

11

must fall. Therefore, the effects of falling gravimetric water content θ_g in the root zone are reflected in changing leaf g_s values of canopy/stomata conductance values.

In citrus, changes in plant water potential and atmospheric demand (humidity and temperature) influence primarily stomatal behavior (Hall et al., 1975; Levy, 1980). Transpiration of citrus trees is much more sensitive to changes in total leaf g_s than in many other agricultural crops due to the generally high boundary layer conductance of orchard canopies (Jarvis et al., 1981). This high boundary layer conductance implies a close coupling with the environment.

Measurement of plant water status by compensation, sap flow, porometry and pressure chamber methods are useful in establishing the degree of water stress in plants (Slavik, 1974; Kramer, 1983).

1.4. Photosynthesis and transpiration

1.4.1. Water use efficiency (WUE)

Efficiency is generally defined as the ratio of output over input. Historically, the term "water use efficiency" has been used in two very different senses, hydrological and physiological (Stanhill, 1986). WUE includes any measure that reduces the amount of water used per unit of any given activity, consistent with the maintenance or enhancement of water quality (Richards et al., 2002).WUE is often considered an important determinant of yield under stress and even as a component of crop drought resistance. It has been used to imply that rainfed plant production can be increased per unit water used, resulting in "more crop per drop" (Blum, 2009). Increasing WUE in irrigated agriculture and promoting dry land farming will both play a significant role in maintaining food security (Deng et al., 2006).

Chaves et al. (2004) defined WUE as the ratio of carbon gained in dry matter over a given period, to water loss over the same period. In C_3 plants, the actual rate of CO_2 assimilation, which is dictated by CO_2 availability (g_s), corresponds to the internal CO_2 partial pressure. If g_s increases above the operational point, leaf photosynthetic rate would only marginally increase and WUE would decrease (Schulze, 1986, Schulze, et al., 1994, Chaves, et al., 2004). Schulze et al. (1994) summarized WUE as follows: stomata are able to balance CO_2 entry into the cellular space for photosynthesis to occur, and also control cell dehydration by minimizing water loss; thus stomata will open to the extent required to provide sufficient CO_2 to meet the requirements for photosynthesis. During water stress periods, when the midday stomatal conductance is high, the daily net CO_2 assimilation decreases, leading to low CO_2 availability, which further leads to decline in carboxylation efficiency and lower intrinsic WUE (WUEi) (Valladares and Pearcy, 2002; Chaves, et al., 2004).

1.4.2. Stomata hydraulics

Stomata act as valves, opening and closing in response to changing conditions and so, control water loss from plants. An important plant function that is influenced by internal water status is the regulation of stomata aperture. The greatest loss of water by plants is through leaf stomata during transpiration (Mullins et al., 1992).

In response to soil drying, many plant species close their stomata without any change in plant water status (Bates and Hall, 1981). The suggestion of another controlling mechanism was supported by an experimental split-root system that demonstrated that plants respond to a signal from the roots (Blackman and Davies, 1985; Coutts, 1982). The plant hormone abscisic acid (ABA) has been identified as a compound that plays a role in stomatal closure as soil dries.

Stomata are connected hydraulically to each other throughout leaf (Raschke, 1970) and to the rest of the transpiration stream through the xylem vessels in the leaf petiole (Fig 1.1). This connectivity has been demonstrated by many researchers in experiments where a perturbation introduced on one part of the leaf, e.g. by imposing irradiance (Buckley and Mott, 2000) or a step change in the vapor pressure deficit (VPD) of the air (Nonami et al., 1990), caused the stomata on the same leaf but distal from the perturbation to respond despite no local change in either the irradiance or VPD. Thus the behavior of individual stomata is strongly influenced by developments elsewhere in the

transpiration stream. This is substantiated by the fact that plants behave in such a way that their water status is maintained above a certain threshold value by ensuring that their stomatal conductance somewhat matches the hydraulic conductance of the transpiration stream (Meinzer et al., 2003). For instance, trees with high stomatal conductance generally tend to have high hydraulic conductance as well. Therefore, Limiting water supply to the leaves e.g. by transverse cuts to the xylem vessels or by inducing air embolisms causes the stomata conductance to decrease (Sperry et al., 1993).



*Fig. 1.4.*Components of the transpiration pathway for a typical tree from the roots to the leaves (from Dzikiti, 2007). The detailed characteristics of each component are shown on the left hand side of the diagram.

1.5. Deficit irrigation

Deficit irrigation practices differ from traditional irrigation practices. The manager needs to know the level of transpiration deficiency allowable without significant reduction in crop yield. Deficit irrigation is a promising water management strategy to achieve increased crop water productivity (English, 1990). It is an optimization strategy in which irrigation water is applied during sensitive growth stages of a crop and whereby, outside these periods, irrigation is limited or can even be absent if rainfall guarantees a minimum supply of water.

1.5.1. Regulated deficit irrigation (RDI)

Behboudian and Mils (1997) define Regulated Deficit Irrigation (RDI) as a system of managing soil water supply to impose periods of predetermined plant or soil water deficit that can result in some economic benefit. Over the last two decades, extensive research work conducted on fruit trees have demonstrated a positive yield response to mild water deficits (Marsal et al., 2002; Chalmers et al., 1981).

Originally, RDI was developed primarily to control vegetative growth in high density orchards, and secondarily to maximize fruit size, fruitfulness and fruit quality (Goodwin and Jerie, 1992). Thus, it consists on deliberately applying an amount of water at a level below water requirement during the irrigation season in order to save water and control vigor (Goodwin and Boland, 2000). A certain reduction in yield is observed, but fruit quality (e.g. sugar content) tends to be equal to or even greater than that of fully irrigated trees (Marouelli and Silva, 2007; Spreer et al., 2007; Cui et al., 2008; Hueso and Cuevas, 2008).

A certain level of drought stress is maintained in the root zone and the primary objective of its use in tree crops is to control the canopy size and save water. Usually a fraction of ET_c is replaced during each irrigation rather than applying the full ET_c rate. Successful implementation of the RDI strategy depends on a precise knowledge of the vegetative and reproductive development of the fruit tree under investigation. For

example, periods when vegetative growth is normally high and fruit growth is low are ideal for reducing irrigation rates (RDI) since a significant portion of resources can be allocated in favor of fruit development rather than toward vegetative growth. On the other hand, application of RDI during the sensitive periods, e.g. flowering and fruit set, is not advisable. For those reasons, much research has focused on the appropriate timing of the application of this strategy, also in citrus (Goldhamer and Salinas, 2000).

1.5.2. Citrus and water deficit

Water stress is the physiological condition to which a tree is subjected whenever the rate of water loss from the leaves by transpiration exceeds the rate of water absorbed by the root system; this reduces plant growth and biomass production. McCarthy et al. (2002) reported that vegetative growth (shoot growth) is more sensitive to water stress than fruit growth.

A readily available soil water supply appears essential for the development of optimum fruit size and yield in citrus (Levy et al., 1978; Moreshet et al., 1983). Plant water deficits, resulting from a reduction in the flow of water through the soil-plant system, affect a wide range of physiological and developmental processes involved in fruit production, including reduced growth due to inhibited cell division and cell expansion, and reduced photosynthetic capacity due to stomatal closure (Slatyer, 1967; Kozlowski, 1974; Hsaio, 1973).

Pérez-Pérez et al., (2007) showed that the effect of water stress on growth and yield depends on the amount and time of occurrence of the water stress. It also varies with crop species and variety. The yield response to water shortage can vary depending on the particular growth period. The initial period of fruit growth is the most sensitive phase to drought stress. Total soluble sugars and titratable acidity increased when a severe drought stress occurred only in the final period of fruit growth, near ripening and harvest. On the contrary, it only increased the peel/pulp ratio if it occurred in the initial period of fruit growth.

Citrus trees have the tendency to conserve water through relatively low transpiration rates and relatively high leaf and root resistances (Kriedemann and Barrs, 1981). But a large part of the resistance to water stress in citrus also appears to rest in its ability to adapt to water deficits under a range of environmental conditions. There is, however, little unequivocal information available concerning the effect of decreasing soil water potential on total root hydraulic resistance within citrus trees. These characteristics can potentially be manipulated to improve WUE, but to achieve this goal there is a continuing need for more knowledge about the physiological processes that control water use.

Moss and Muirhead (1971a, b) in their study on 'Valencia' orange showed that temperature and evaporation rates during November were the most consistent predictors of yield in New South Wales. After allowing for the effects of tree age and yield in the previous season, 44.5% of the remaining variability in Valencia was attributed to temperature, with 32.1% due to evaporation conditions. Similar responses for yield variability (ranging from 26 to 150 kg per tree) from one season to the next, have been reported by Jones and Cree (1964) who showed that yield appeared negatively correlated with the previous year's crop and with daily maximum temperature following bloom.

On the other hand, (Hilgeman, 1977) showed that fruit quality (total soluble solids and total acidity) was improved when late summer water stress was induced. Also other studies indicate that reduced water supply, particularly late in fruit development, is associated with higher total soluble solids and titratable acidity (Castel and Buj, 1990; Peng and Rabe, 1998; Hutton et al., 2007). Mantell et al. (1976) reported similar results in 'Shamouti' orange where fewer summer irrigations resulted in improved juice quality (higher levels of vitamin C, sugar, citric acid, and higher total soluble solids to acid ratio), despite increasing the number of small fruit per tree.

Manner et al., (2006) indicated that citrus growth in dry Mediterranean climates, with average rainfall less than 250 mm/yr and dry summers, is only possible with irrigation. Citrus can generally tolerate 3–4 months of minimal rainfall. Drought

tolerance depends on temperatures, soils, wind, and the desired level of fruit production. Citrus loses productivity in drought and requires irrigation during the summer months to sustain production also in Florida and Central and Southern California.

Syvertsen (1982) reported that citrus leaf water potential is related to age, and minimum leaf water potential for stomatal closure of young leaves were as high as -1.6 MPa which coincides with previously measured leaf potentials at zero turgidity. As for mature leaves, water potential was as low as -3.5 MPa in 3- to 6-month-old leaves. The rate at which new leaves are produced and become mature may be an important mechanism by which the tree can adjust to water stress.

González-Altozano and Castel (1999) reported that Clementine yields were reduced when water stress was applied at an early stage of fruit ontogeny through increased fruit drop. However, stress applied at a later stage can affect fruit yield by decreasing fruit weight.

Syvertsen (1985) showed that vegetative growth in citrus is very sensitive to water stress. Long water stress period reduces yield of orange about 25% (Pires et al., 2008).

Shalhevet and levy (1990) reported that size, rind appearance and internal maturity are the major quality parameters for citrus fruit, and these variables are strongly influenced by irrigation management. Water application may enhance some performance variables while minimizing effects on others.

Research on citrus irrigation has been reviewed by several authors (Doorenbos and Kassam, 1979; Kriedemann and Barrs, 1981; Shalhevet et al., 1981). Functional relationships between yield and water deficits in citrus have been given by Shalhevet and Bielorai (1978) and Doorenbos and Kassam (1979). In some of these irrigation studies, the sensitivity of yield to water stress has been found to depend on the phenological growth stage at which the deficit occurred.

1.5.3. RDI studies on other crops

Many studies have been performed on deficit irrigation and other water related concepts of different fruit crops:

- Dry et al., (2000) reported that RDI is widely practiced in the red wine orchard in Australia.
- Levy et al. (1978) indicated that in the long term, vegetative growth can be reduced by deficit irrigation more than fruit growth. Water relations and vegetative development are a function of water available to plants (Tognetti et al., 2006).
- The impact of deficit irrigation on fruit quality has been investigated for several fruit species "apple, olive and mango". In many cases, a positive influence on fruit quality was reported (Bussakorn et al., 2000; Motilva et al., 2000; Pickering et al., 2002).
- Leib et al., (2004) found that fruit weight per tree was reduced by 10% in the deficit irrigation treatment as compared to the conventional irrigation and partial root-zone drying treatments. Also, the deficit irrigated treatments produced higher soluble solids and greater firmness than the control treatment. Gómez-Rico et al. (2007) noted that trees under RDI produce an olive oil similar in composition and quality to that of trees irrigated with 100% Et_c.

1.5.4. Partial root-zone drying (PRD)

PRD is a deficit irrigation strategy designed to maintain half of the root system in a dry or drying state, while the other half is irrigated. The theory behind PRD is based on root-to-shoot chemical signaling in drying soil, which is supposed to reduce stomatal conductance (Loveys et al., 2000; Gowing et al., 1990; Düring et al., 1996). This strategy involves exposure of roots to alternate drying and wetting cycles and enables plants to grow with reduced stomatal conductance but without signs of water stress, (Zhang et al., 1987; Davies et al., 1994; Davies et al., 2002; Santos et al., 2003; Kang and Zhang 2004). Figure (1.2) shows a schematic diagram indicating how roots might interact with drying soil to generate chemical signals in the xylem in a typical PRD setting.

A practical inconvenience of PRD is that it requires the use of twice the amount of tubing than RDI or conventional irrigation, thus increasing installation costs. Nevertheless, the underlying mechanisms of PRD functioning are still a matter of discussion. Bravdo (2005) stated that it is not possible to have absolute control of root drying under field conditions and that hydraulic redistribution from deeper to shallower roots may prevent the clear results that can be obtained in potted plants.

The PRD seems to give better results in soils that ensure high rates of infiltration and deep roots. However, the depth of the root-zone is not necessarily directly correlated with the infiltration rate. Low infiltration rates may be associated with both superficial and deep root systems.

The partial root-zone drying irrigation technique has been shown to reduce the need for pruning (Dry et al., 1996) due to a reduced vegetative vigor. In addition, opening up of the canopy increases light penetration to the fruit which increases the color e.g. of grape fruit and increases the content of compounds associated with flavor and aroma. Most important also, half the amount of water applied to control plants can be added to apple trees under PRD without significant yield reductions (Talluto et al., 2008). Interesting results of the application of PRD on cotton showed that the crops were ready for harvest three weeks earlier than the control treatment (Mingo and Davies, 2001).

PRD improve WUE in various tree crop species (Kang et al., 2002; Grant et al., 2004; Romero et al., 2004; van Hooijdonk et al., 2004; Cifre et al., 2005; Tognetti et al., 2005). PRD clearly improved yield per unit of applied water with respect to

conventional irrigation when high irrigation volumes are applied (Davies et al., 2002; Kirda et al., 2007; Morison et al., 2008).



Fig. 1.5. Schematic diagram shows how roots might interact with drying soil to generate chemical signals in the xylem in a typical partial root-zone drying setting (from XXX).

1.5.5. The role of abscisic acid (ABA)

Many studies demonstrate that ABA can play a central role in the long distance drought signaling process in many plants (Wensuo Jia and Zhang, 2008). The PRD technique is based on plant root-to-shoot chemical signaling that influences shoot physiology. The production of ABA by roots in a drying soil restricts gas exchange and photosynthesis through its action on stomata. Theoretically, roots of the watered side of the soil will keep a favorable plant water status, while dehydration on the other side will promote the synthesis of hormonal signals, which will reach leaves via the transpiration stream and further reduce stomatal conductance. This will decrease water loss and vegetative growth and increase WUE (Dry et al., 1996; Davies et al., 2000). The PRD strategy may also increase root growth at deeper layers of the soil as it has been described for grapevine (Dry et al., 2003). PRD strategies have also resulted in higher xylem pH (Davies and Zhang 1991; Dry et al. 1996; Dry and Loveys 1999; Stoll et al. 2000) and lower cytokinins levels (Davies et al. 2005) which restricts stomatal opening. The PRD may also bring about other benefits to the crop besides higher WUE.
It can influence carbohydrate partitioning between the different plant organs and affect the quantity and quality of the harvest (Kang and Zhang, 2004).

1.5.6. Previous studies on PRD

Different experiments were conducted on PRD to understand the impact of this strategy on different crops:

- Dry et al., (1996) explained that the effects of PRD in grapevine are:
 - 1- Increase in water use efficiency
 - 2- Reduction of vegetative vigor, which can affect light penetration and consequently improve grape quality
 - 3- There are no significant reductions in yield and berry size.
- Spreer et al. (2007) Reported that in a mango orchard under PRD, fruit size was increased and had a higher fraction of edible parts compared to RDI.
- The PRD technique also allows for reduction of irrigation water, good fruit size and reduction of shoot growth in field-grown 'Braeburn', 'Fuji', 'Gala' 'Pacific Rose[™] and 'Pink Lady' apple (Caspari et al. 2004; Einhorn and Caspari 2004; Lombardini et al. 2004; Talluto et al., 2007 e 2008; Zegbe and Behboudian, 2008).
- Leib et al., (2004) demonstrated that a 35 to 45% reduction of water with PRD strategies caused minimal apple yield and size reductions.
- O'connell and Goodwin (2007a) showed that PRD is not recommended for microirrigated pear orchards on fine-textured soils in the Goulburn Valley, Australia.
- Kang et al. (2003) showed that in a pear orchard, PRD results in higher WUE compared to conventional flood irrigation due to water loss by percolation.

- Wahbi et al. (2005) showed that in an olive orchard, PRD has not improved the crop response over an RDI regime that applied the same amount of water under arid condition in southern Morocco.
- Kang and Zhang (2004) reported water savings under PRD of 52% in peach and 23% in pear, respectively.
- Water reduction in grapevine may reduce vegetative growth without any effect on the grape quality (Stoll et al., 2000; dos Santos et al., 2003; Souza et al., 2004), and wine quality was consistently improved under PRD (Dry et al., 2000).
- In maize, PRD irrigation reduced water consumption by 35% with a total biomass reduction of 6–11% as compared to fully watered plants (Kang and Zhang, 2004).
- Another experiment with hot peppers and drip irrigation showed that PRD reduced water used for irrigation by about 40% and maintained similar yield as in fully watered plants (Kang et al., 2001).
- The limited data available for PRD effects on **citrus** have pointed to a water volume rather than a PRD effect on yield and fruit size (Eliades et al., 2004).
- Kidra et al., (2007) showed that WUE under PRD was increased in mandarin (*Citrus reticulata* cv. Marisol) in Turkey.
- Dzikiti et al. (2008) showed that in navel oranges PRD decreased g_s, while maintained leaf water potential to control levels.
- Treeby et al. (2007) showed that size of navel oranges was reduced by both PRD and simple reductions in irrigation volumes.

2

EXPERIMENTAL PART

2.1. INTRODUCTION

Cultivation of fruit trees in semi-arid regions is often characterized by increased evapotranspiration, high soil salinity and limited water availability. Those conditions are expected to spread and intensify, especially in the Mediterranean, due to climatic changes, demographic pressure and greater allocation of water resources to municipalities and touristic areas. For those reasons increasing crop water use efficiency through the rationalization of irrigation becomes critical also for citrus fruit production.

Regulated deficit irrigation (RDI) has been long recognized as a potent tool to manage fruit trees, and specifically to reduce shoot growth, improve fruit quality, and save some irrigation water by imposing plant water stress in a controlled manner (Chalmers et al. 1981; Mitchell and Chalmers 1982). Results of RDI experiments have been promising in certain regions and for some fruit crops, such as peach (Chalmers et al. 1981), pear (*Pyrus communis* L.) (Caspari et al. 1994; Mitchell et al. 1989), French prune (*Prunus domestica* L.) (Lampinen et al. 1995), almond (*Prunus dulcis* L.) (Goldhamer et al. 2006), pistachio (*Pistacia vera* L.) (Goldhamer and Beede 2004), apricot (*Prunus armeniaca* L.) (Ruiz-Sàncez et al. 2000), and olive (Goldhamer 1997; Moriana et al. 2003). In citrus, where yield seems to proportional to shoot growth, the control and regulation of water deficit is quite complex resulting often in significant fruit drop or reduced final fruit size and yields, depending on the period of deficit imposition (González-Altozano and Castel, 1999; Hutton, 2004; Pérez-Pérez et al. 2008).

Partial rootzone drying (PRD) is an irrigation technique that was recently developed for grapes (*Vitis vinifera* L.) in Australia, with the primary aim of saving irrigation water (Dry et al. 1995; Dry and Loveys 1998). With PRD only one half of the rootzone is irrigated, whereas the other half is not, with 50-60% savings over conventional irrigation. The physiological basis for PRD is that roots in drying soil produce abscisic acid (ABA), The physiological basis for PRD is that roots in drying soil produce abscisic acid (ABA); if there is sufficient sap flow through those roots, ABA is translocated to the shoots (Dodd et al. 2008a) where it signals a developing soil-water deficit (Dry et al. 1995). Accounting for the relative contributions of different parts of the root system to sap flow can also explain shoot xylem ABA concentrations (Dodd et al. 2008b). In the leaves, ABA induces partial stomatal closure, which reduces transpiration and may increase water use efficiency. However, as the other half of the rootzone is kept well watered, the effect on plant water potential is minimal (Gowing et al. 1990) and other metabolic and physiological processes associated to water stress are not affected (Dry et al. 1995; Dry et al. 2000). The technique relies on cyclical wetting and drying of parts of the rootzone in order to maintain root derived ABA signals (Zhang and Davies 1987). Increased xylem ABA and pH (Davies et al. 2002), both probably responsible for partial stomatal closure, and reductions of cytokinin levels in roots, shoot apexes, and buds (Stoll et al. 2000) have been reported in plants under PRD regime. The resulting changes in hormonal balance may contribute to reduce vegetative growth under those conditions.

The impact of PRD has been extensively investigated in grapevine (Dry and Loveys, 1998 and 1999; Stoll and Loveys, 2000; Santos et al., 2003) and, to a lesser extent, in other woody perennials (e.g. olive, Wahbi et al., 2005; apple, Talluto et al., 2008). Many studies support a PRD effect (e.g. grapevines, Antolín et al., 2006; apple, Leib et al., 2006; mango, Spreer et al., 2007), but some studies support a water volume effect (e.g. grapevines, Gu et al., 2004). The limited data available for PRD effects on citrus have pointed to a water volume rather than a PRD effect on yield and fruit size (Eliades et al., 2004).

In sub-tropical evergreen citrus trees, vegetative growth is sensitive to water stress (Syvertsen, 1985). Growth is often positively related to yield, and drought stress almost always results in reductions in growth and yield. Thus, large amounts of irrigation water are generally supplied to citrus trees to prevent drought stress. In addition, water savings by DI and PRD in citrus have not been entirely successful in Mediterranean-like climates, where tree growth, fruit size and yield decreased in response to insufficient amounts of water (Hutton, 2004).

Valencia oranges are grown in various subtropical and Mediterranean regions and primarily intended for production of juice and concentrates. For this purpose, major quality parameters are juice yield, TSS, vitamin C and other dietary supplements. In Mediterranean regions, navel oranges represent the major source of oranges for fresh consumption, but their production covers market demand only until March. Valencia oranges may therefore represent a good option to extend orange fruit production into late spring. Size, rind appearance and internal maturity are the major quality parameters for fresh citrus fruit, and these variables are known to be influenced by irrigation management (Shalhevet and Levy, 1990). Reduced water supply, particularly late in fruit development, is associated with higher total soluble solids (TSS) and titratable acidity (TA) (Castel and Buj, 1990; Peng and Rabe, 1998; González-Altozano and Castel, 1999; Hutton et al., 2007). Reducing water supply during the initial and final stage of fruit development will delay size increases in lemons (C. limon), despite the final yield being unaffected (Torrecillas et al., 1993). Clementine mandarin yields may be reduced by water deficit at an early stage of fruit growth through increased fruit drop, but at a later stage by decreasing fruit weight (González-Altozano and Castel, 1999).

RDI strategies during the intermediate stage of citrus fruit growth have been reported to save water under semi-arid conditions (Pérez-Pérez et al. 2008). However, the use of PRD in citrus trees has not been extensively investigated as there is a lack of understanding of growth response to seasonal drought stress. The objectives of the present study was to determine physiological, growth, yield and fruit quality responses of 'Valencia' orange trees to PRD and continuous deficit irrigation under field conditions of a typical Mediterranean climate.

2.2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.2.1. Experimental site

The experiment was performed on an area of about 800 m^2 , at the experimental farm of the School of Agriculture, University of Palermo, Italy (30.06N, 13.21E, and 31 m a.s.l.). Type, physical and hydraulic properties of the soil are indicated in table 2.1.

Tab. 2.1. Soil properties at the experimental site. F.C. = field capacity, W.P. = wilting point, B.D. = bulk density.

Soil sample depth	Particle S	ize Distrib	ution (%)	FC	FC WP BD 7		Texture
(cm)	Sand	Silt	Clay	Г.С.	** •1 •	D . D .	Class
15-30	52	29.1	18.9	0.239	0.123	1.44	Loam

The study was carried out on 48 adult orange trees (*Citrus sinensis*, cv Valencia) grafted onto sour orange (*Citrus aurantium*, L.) rootstock, spaced at 4×4 m, trained at full globe canopy branched at about 0.8 m from the ground and reaching 3-3.5 m in height. The study considered three crop seasons starting in spring 2007 and ending with the harvest of third crop in spring 2010. Typically, the 'Valencia' orange trees at the experimental site bloom in the month of April and fruits reach full maturity after about 400 days.

With the exception of irrigation all trees received same conventional cultural cares: Complex solid fertilizers (20N:10P:10K at the rate of 1.5 kg/tree) were applied to the soil once a year in winter and weeds were controlled by regular tilling of inter-rows and rows. Irrigation was provided by a micro-sprinkler system with a single line per tree row and two emitters per tree located at about 1 m from the trunk and 0.5 cm from the ground. Specifically, micro-sprinklers with 360° circular spray pattern were used and nominal delivery rates are reported in Table 2.2. Micro-sprinklers were connected to PE lines with 5-mm diameter polyethylene tubing of various length and wood sticks were used for exact positioning of emitters with respect to tree trunk, soil humidity sensors, and portion of rootzone to be irrigated.

Before the irrigation season started each year, the system was flushed to clean various deposits out of the pipes and the plugged micro-sprinklers and filters were replaced with new ones. Uniformity of water distribution was checked by measuring delivery rates of all emitters each year before the irrigation season started.

2.2.2. Irrigation treatments and experimental design

In spring 2007, 48 trees uniform in size were selected and labeled according to a randomized block design with four replicates (blocks), each including four trees per irrigation treatment (total 12 trees per replicate). In June, three irrigation treatments were imposed, 1) conventional irrigation (CI), where two 3-mm-diameter emitters per tree were used so that trees received 100% of water consumed by crop evapotranspiration on both sides of the rootzone; 2) partial rootzone drying (PRD), where one 3-mm-diameter emitter per tree was used so that trees received about 50% of CI water only on one alternated side of the rootzone; 3) continuous deficit irrigation (DI), where two 2-mm-diameter emitters per tree were used so that trees received about 50% of CI water on both sides of the rootzone. The interval between irrigation events and the duration of each event (minimum 40 min maximum 2 h) were adjusted to maintain soil moisture of wetted volume above 80% of field capacity (-50 kPa) in the rootzone of CI trees but avoid spreading of wet areas into the dry sides of PRD trees. Wet and dry sides of PRD trees were alternated every 2-3 weeks when soil water potential in the dry side reached values of approximately -100 to -150 kPa.

	Flow r	ate (l/h)
$\boldsymbol{\varphi} \operatorname{mm}$	1 bar	1.5 bar
2	183	210
3	384	445

Table 2.2 Characteristics of the micro-sprinklers used in the experiment.

2.2.3. Climate, water requirements, and water status.

Climate parameters were recorded hourly with a µMetos weather station (Pessl, Austria) positioned within the experimental plot. These data were compared to regional agro-meteorological data (Servizio Informativo Agrometeorologico Siciliano) and used to calculate daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_{o}) according to the FAO Penman-Monteith equation. Irrigation volumes to CI trees were calculated to meet crop evapotranspiration (ET_{c}) , which was determined as

$$ET_c = ET_{\circ} \times K_c$$

where K_c was derived from FAO indications and set to 0.7 from October through May, and to 0.65 from June through September, due to the specific soil management, climate conditions and to the fact that 'Valencia' trees bear fruits all year around (Allen et al. 1998).

Vapor pressure deficit (VPD) was calculated from air temperature (in °C) and relative humidity (in %) measured hourly by the weather station located nearby the trees, and plotted against time to give an indication of daily variation in atmospheric vapor demand at sampling dates. Also instantaneous VPD was caculated from canopy air temperature and relative humidity measured on the same dates and at the same time of stomatal conductance measurements and used to establish associations with other parameters. Soil water potential (SWP) was monitored continuously at a fixed depth of 45 cm with six Watermark sensors (Irrometer Co., Riverside, CA, USA) directly connected to the weather station. Sensors were positioned at about 80 cm from emitters and 1 m from the tree trunk in opposite sides of the rootzone.

Stomatal conductance (g_s) was monitored bi-weekly throughout the irrigation period and at longer intervals during rainy periods using an AP4 Delta-T porometer (Delta-T Devices, Cambridge, UK). On each date, the device was calibrated and g_s was measured between 10:00HR and 12:00HR on one mature, sun-exposed leaf per tree.

In the same sampling dates, two leaves similar to those used for g_s measurements were wrapped in parafilm and aluminum foil, detached, enclosed in zip-lock bags, and transported in ice to the laboratory for determination of fresh weight (FW). Leaf samples were rehydrated for 24 h in the dark for determination of turgid weight (TW) and subsequently oven dried at 60 °C to constant weight for determination of dry weight (DW). Relative water content (RWC) was calculated as:

> $RWC = [(FW - DW)/(TW - DW)] \times 100.$ 29

2.2.4. Growth measurement

In all three years, fruit growth was estimated by measuring on the same dates as previous measurements height and width of one fruit per tree with a digital caliper and calculating changes in average diameters and relative growth rate (RGR). Concurrently, also a growing shoot per tree was selected, labeled and measured. Shoot relative elongation rate (RER) was calculated as the increase in shoot length per meter of shoot per day. Trunk circumference was also measured above the graft union each year before harvest and trunk growth was estimated as the increase in trunk cross-sectional area (TCSA) from harvest 2008 to harvest 2010 normalized by the initial TCSA. TCSA was also used to calculate yield efficiency (kg of fruit per cm² TCSA) and crop load (number of fruits per cm² TCSA).

2.2.5. Yield and fruit quality

Each year, harvest time was determined by monitoring sugar and acid contents and fruits were harvested in 2-3 picks within the first three weeks of May (Tab.2. 3). Fruits of each tree were weighed and counted directly in the field.

Crop season	Fruit picks	Date
2007 2008	1	05 May
2007-2008	2	20 May
	1	04 May
2008-2009	2	12 May
	3	21 May
2000 2010	1	03 May
2009-2010	2	10 May

Tab	le 2.3.	Harvest	dates and	l picks o	f the th	ree crop	seasons.
-----	---------	---------	-----------	-----------	----------	----------	----------

In every pick date, a sub-sample of 5-10 fruits were collected randomly from each tree and brought to the laboratory. In the laboratory, each fruit was weighed, measured in height and width, and photographed with a Nikon Coolpix L10 digital camera. Pictures were taken under controlled light conditions and sample fruits from each tree and pick were included in a single picture. Digital images were edited, cropped to one fruit per image, labeled and used to determine intensity of peel color in each fruit. Digital images were analyzed using an algorithm developed with MATLAB® software (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) that converts images from RGB to CIE 1976 L*a*b format, extracts the fruit from the image (removing the image background) and quantifies color characteristics as the weighted distance of each pixel in the image from a reference sample (best colored area interactively chosen from a well-colored fruit). The output is an index ranging from 0 (no orange) to 1 (full orange).

The juice was extracted from each fruit with a squeezer and weighed to determine juice yield as a percentage of total fruit weight. Total soluble solids (TSS) were measured in the juice of each fruit using a digital refractometer (Atago Co., Ltd, Tokyo, Japan). Juice pH and titratable acidity were determined using a compact titrator (Crison Instruments, SA, Barcelona, Spain) and acidity was expressed as grams of citric acid per 100 ml of juice. All measurements were performed at room temperature. Juice water content was also measured by evaporating pre-weighed amounts of juice at 60 °C.

Total carotenoids content was analyzed by UV-visible spectrophotometry using a Beckman DU-640 spectrophotometer (Beckman Coulter, Inc., CA, USA) and according to Benk's method (Benk, 1961). Briefly, 0.5-1.0 g of orange juice was mixed with 50 ml of a 1:1 (v: v) methanol and petroleum ether solution in presence of sand. The mix was filtered on cotton wool and residues were repeatedly extracted with the methanol-petroleum ether solvent until the elute was colorless. Five ml of water were added, the solution was mixed well and the aqueous layer was removed. The remaining petroleum-ether phase was washed with small quantities of methanol (90%) until colorless. After washing with 25 ml of water and filtering, the extract containing all the carotenoids was re-diluted with petroleum ether to 50 ml final volume. The optical density of the solution was read on the spectrophotometer at 450 nm. Potassium bichromate was used to construct standard curves and quantify total carotenoids.

Sample solutions of juice were prepared and filtered to remove any particles, and dark juices were clarified with 1% polyvinylpolypyrrolidone (PVPP). Ascorbic acid content was measured according to procedure no. 409677 of Boehringer (Mannheim, Germany). This colorimetric method is based on the reduction of the tetrazolium salt MTT [3-(4,5-dimethylthiazolyl-2)-2,5-diphenyltetrazoliumbromide] by L-ascorbic acid in the presence of the electron carrier PMS (5-methylphenazinium methyl sulphate) at pH 3.5 to a formazan. The MTT-formazan is determined by measuring absorbance at 578 nm. Vitamin C content was expressed as milligrams of L-ascorbic acid per liter of juice.

2.2.6. Data analysis

Yield and fruit quality data were compared by two-way analysis of variance with year and irrigation treatment as main factors, fruit pick and block as replicate factors, and year x irrigation as the sole interaction. Vitamin C and carotenoids were compared by one-way analysis of variance with irrigation treatment as the main factor, and fruit pick and block as replicate factors. Fruit quality data were also analyzed using crop load as a covariate to correct for differences in fruit number among treatments. However, since differences in fruit number were mainly due to irrigation treatments, unadjusted means and statistics with no covariate in the model are reported in tables. Trunk growth rates over the three years were compared by one-way analysis of variance with irrigation treatment as the main factor, and block as replicate factor. When appropriate means were separated using Tukey's multiple range test ($P \le 0.05$). Repeated measures analysis of variance followed by orthogonal polynomial contrasts was used to evaluate differences in g_s, RWC, shoot and fruit growth across sampling dates and between treatments for each year separately. Linear regression analysis was performed to establish relationships among g_s, RWC and VPD. All described statistical tests were performed using SYSTAT procedures (Systat Software Inc., Richmond, Ca., USA).

2.3. RESULTS

2.3.1. Climate, irrigation volumes and soil moisture

In all three years, evapotranspirative demand was highest during the dry season, in June, July and August (Fig. 2.1). Rainfall of 2009 was by far the greatest, although 30% of annual rainfall was concentrated in January and February, a lot before the irrigation season started, and 43% between mid September and the end of October, after the irrigation season was over (Fig. 2.1). Due to scarce winter rainfall and climate trends in 2008 (Fig.2. 1) irrigation events started a few days earlier compared to 2007 and 2009 (Tab. 2.4). Relevant and frequent precipitations resumed earlier in 2009 (Fig. 2.4A) compared to 2007 (Fig. 2.2A) and 2008 (Fig. 2.3A). As a consequence, the 2009 irrigation season was a few days shorter than in 2007 or 2009 (Tab. 2.4). Despite large differences in annual rainfall and small differences in the duration of irrigation seasons, CI trees received basically the same number of irrigation events and volumes in the three years (Tab.2. 4).

Irrigation	First	Last	N.	Volumes (mm)		Annual rainfall	
season	event	event	events	CI	PRD	DI	
2007	29 Jun	18 Sep	21	345	160	154	664
2008	18 Jun	11 Sep	20	340	140	132	456
2009	23 Jun	7 Sep	21	345	149	140	1238

Table 2.4 Period and total volumes of the three irrigation seasons.

In all three years, SWP of CI treatment showed fluctuations due to wetting and drying cycles between consecutive irrigation events, but staying generally above -50 kPa (about 80% of field capacity) during the irrigation period. Only in a few cases, at the end of August in 2007 (Fig.2.2B) and in mid July in 2008 (Fig. 2.3B), SWP reached minimum values of -70 to -80 kPa. In DI trees, SWP followed sharper fluctuations than in CI trees reaching minimum values of -160 to -180 kPa only in late August in 2007 (Fig. 2.2B), of -160 kPa often throughout July and August in 2008 (Fig. 2.3B), and of -190 to -200 kPa at the end of June, mid July and mid August in 2009 (Fig.2.4B). In all

three seasons, average SWP of wet and dry sides of PRD was lower than SWP of CI, but generally a bit higher than SWP of DI. In 2007, wet and dry sides of PRD trees were alternated on 27 July, 14 August, and 4 September; in 2008, on 11 and 29 July, 17 August, and 11 September; in 2009, on 10 and 20 July, 2 and 13 August, and 7 September. In the non-irrigated side of PRD, the relatively long period of progressive drying determined strong SWP fluctuations reaching at the end of each dry cycle minimum values of -160 kPa in late July of 2007 (Fig. 2.2C), of -190 to -200 kPa in mid July and early September of 2008 (Fig.2. 3C), and in early and mid August and early September of 2009 (Fig. 2.4C). Irrigation by the micro-sprinkler system and volumes applied in each event allowed for a good separation of wet and dry sides of the rootzone in PRD and no significant transfer of moisture to the dry side occurred on the days of irrigation.



■ 2007 ■ 2008 ■ 2009 — 2007 - 2008 = 2009

Fig. 2.1. Distribution of total monthly rainfall (bars) and reference evapotranspiration (lines) during the three years of observations at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily.



Fig. 2.2. Water losses and inputs (A) recorded in summer 2007 at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily. Soil water potential in the rootzone of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), continuous deficit irrigation (DI), and partial rootzone drying (PRD, average of wet and dry side; panel B) and in the two sides of the rootzone of trees under PRD (C) during the 2007 irrigation season.



Fig. 2.3. Water losses and inputs (A) recorded in summer 2008 at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily. Soil water potential in the rootzone of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), continuous deficit irrigation (DI), and partial rootzone drying (PRD, average of wet and dry side; panel B) and in the two sides of the rootzone of trees under PRD (C) during the 2008 irrigation season.



Fig. 2.4. Water losses and inputs (A) recorded in summer 2009 at the experimental site in Palermo (30°06' N, 13°21' E, and 31 m a.s.l.), Sicily. Soil water potential in the rootzone of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), continuous deficit irrigation (DI), and partial rootzone drying (PRD, average of wet and dry side; panel B) and in the two sides of the rootzone of trees under PRD (C) during the 2009 irrigation season.

2.3.2. Tree water status and stomatal conductance

In 2007, RWC was measured only on 17 July and 31 August and, although DI leaves tended to be somewhat more dehydrated than CI and PRD leaves in both occasions, the irrigation treatment did not affect significantly leaf hydration level (Tab.2. 5). On the contrary, RWC decreased significantly from mid July to the end of August.

Irrigation	17-Jul	31-Aug
CI	87.2 ± 1.01	84.2 ± 1.70
PRD	88.2 ± 0.84	$85.8\ \pm 1.07$
DI	$86.4\ \pm 1.15$	82.0 ± 1.45
	IRR	0.095
ANOVA	TIME	0.002
	$IRR \times TIME$	0.672

Tab. 2.5. Leaf relative water content (%) of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means ± standard errors.

In both 2008 and 2009, leaf RWC followed different trends in the three treatments (significant interaction between irrigation treatment and sampling date). Specifically in 2008, RWC of DI leaves was lower than RWC of CI leaves on 29 July and 12 August, whereas RWC of PRD leaves was highest on 12 September (Fig.2.5A). By the end of the first week of October, RWC reached a minimum value of about 79% equal for all treatments. In 2009, RWC was generally stable throughout the season with PRD lower than CI only in a couple of occasions (12 August and 8 September), and increased significantly on 14 October in CI and PRD leaves, whereas remained significantly lower in DI leaves (Fig.2.5B). It is worth to notice that RWC followed generally opposite trends toward the end of the two years, decreasing in 2008 and increasing in 2009.



Fig.2.5. Relative water content (RWC) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 and 2009 irrigation seasons. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

Reductions of g_s in deficit irrigation treatments were relatively minor and more consistent in 2007 and 2009 than in 2008, where no difference between treatments was observed at any sampling date (Fig.2.6). In 2007, g_s of DI trees was lowest, and g_s of PRD intermediate, on 21 August, 4 and 18 September (Fig.2.6A). In 2009, g_s of CI trees was significantly higher than g_s of PRD and DI on 29 July and 12 August (Fig.2.6C). When significant, reductions of g_s levels were similar in PRD and DI trees. No difference in g_s was observed on dates away from the irrigation periods (i.e., late fall, winter, or early spring).



Fig.2.6. Stomatal conductance (g_s) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

When data of sampling dates were pooled together, g_s showed a linear inverse relationships with VPD in all treatments and for both 2008 and 2009 (Figs.2.7 and 2.8). Regression slopes were generally steeper for PRD compared to CI and DI and in 2009 compared to 2008, but analysis of covariance did not show any significant interaction with treatment suggesting that a general inverse relationship exists between VPD and g_s in the 'Valencia' orange trees under the experimental conditions.



Fig.2.7. Relationship between vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and stomatal conductance (g_s) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 sampling period. In CI, $g_s = 92.5 - 18.0$ *VPD (P < 0.001); in PRD, $g_s = 103.2 - 28.5$ *VPD (P < 0.001); in DI, $g_s = 88.3 - 20.6$ *VPD (P < 0.001).



Fig.2.8. Relationship between vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and stomatal conductance (g_s) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. In CI, $g_s = 102.6 - 22.8 * VPD$ (P < 0.001); in PRD, $g_s = 131.6 - 37.4 * VPD$ (P < 0.001); in DI, $g_s = 114.5 - 32.2 * VPD$ (P < 0.001).

On the other hand, RWC of PRD and DI leaves (not of CI) exhibited an inverse linear relationship with g_s in 2008 (Fig.2.9), and in this case the interaction with the irrigation treatment was significant confirming the different response of CI leaves. In 2009, only RWC of PRD leaves exhibited a non-linear (logarithmic) positive association with g_s (Fig.2.10).



Fig.2.9. Relationship between stomatal conductance (g_s) and relative water content *(RWC)* in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 sampling period. In PRD, RWC = $89.7 - 0.057 * g_s$ (P = 0.008); in DI, RWC = $87.1 - 0.045 * g_s$ (P = 0.015).



Fig.2.10. Relationship between stomatal conductance (g_s) and relative water content *(RWC)* in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. In PRD, RWC = $69.8 + 4.42 * \ln[g_s]$ (P < 0.001).

Only in 2008, RWC was positively associated to VPD according to a saturating type of exponential trend (Fig.2.11). Also in this case the absence of interaction with the irrigation treatment suggests a similar response of CI, PRD and DI leaves to the specific environmental conditions. No significant relationship between VPD and RWC was observed in 2009.



Fig.2.11. Relationship between vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and relative water content (RWC) in leaves of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. In CI, RWC = 90.8 * (1-0.164^{VPD}) (P = 0.002); in PRD, RWC = 91.5 * (1-0.172^{VPD}) (P < 0.001); in DI, RWC = 89.6 * (1-0.160^{VPD}) (P < 0.001).

In 2008, when measurements on all trees of each irrigation treatment were averaged per date, g_s was directly related to SWP according to a linear trend (Fig.2.12). In 2009, the same relationship followed an exponential trend, indicating a SWP threshold value (between -80 and -100 kPa) below which g_s did not respond anymore to SWP (Fig.2.13).



Fig.2.12. Relationship between soil water potential (SWP) and leaf stomatal conductance (g_s) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2008 sampling period. $G_s = 80.5 + 0.31$ *SWP (P = 0.018).



Fig.2.13. Relationship between soil water potential (SWP) and leaf stomatal conductance (g_s) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the 2009 sampling period. $G_s = 49.6 + 217*1.04^{SWP}$ (P = 0.001).

2.3.3. Fruit and shoot growth

Changes in fruit size, as shown by the 2007 data with a broad time-range of measurements (from 75 to 300 days after full bloom), followed a multi-modal curve, with lag periods at the end of August, in mid September, and mid October, to reach a plateau (and nearly final size) by mid November (Fig.2.14).

Fruit diameter was significantly and consistently affected by irrigation only in 2008, although a similar tendency to gradually show differences with time was also present in the other two years (Fig.2.14). In particular, most of the difference between treatments occurred during the month of August in 2007 and 2009, and during the month of July in 2008. In addition, both PRD and DI irrigation tended to reduce fruit size in 2007 and 2009, whereas only DI irrigation reduced fruit size over CI (PRD intermediate) at all dates but the first of 2008.



Fig.2.14. Fruit diameter of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

Peaks of fruit growth were registered in early July of 2007 and 2008, early August of 2007, and early September of all three years (Fig.2.15).

Differences in fruit RGR among irrigation treatments were significant only sporadically, especially in 2009. In particular, RGR of DI fruits was highest on 7 November in 2007, whereas RGR of CI fruits was highest on 29 July in 2008 (Fig.2.15). In 2009, RGR of CI fruits was highest on 29 July and 12 August, whereas RGR of DI fruits was higher than RGR of CI fruits on 8 September. In general there was a common tendency for fruits of DI trees to resume and compensate for growth differences after resumption of precipitations in autumn.



Fig.2.15. Fruit relative growth rate (RGR) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

Shoot growth was higher in 2009 compared to 2007 or 2008 (Fig.2.16). The summer flush of growth occurred from mid to the end of July in all three years. A second peak at the beginning of September was evident only in 2009. The autumn flush was evident from early to late November only in 2007, when measurements were taken through the winter. Irrigation never affected shoot RER, although PRD shoots tended to have the highest RER in July of all three years (Fig.2.16). Also trunk growth over the three years was unaffected (P = 0.579) by irrigation with the average trunk growth being 0.15, 0.17, and 0.16 cm cm⁻² for CI, PRD, and DI, respectively.



Fig.2.16. Shoot relative elongation rate (RER) of 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) during the three years of observations. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. When present, different letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments for a specific date (P < 0.05).

2.3.4. Yield and fruit quality

Yield responses of 'Valencia' trees to irrigation followed similar trends during the years of observations, as indicated by the lack of interaction between year and irrigation (Tab. 2.6). Yield, number of fruits, and crop load of 2009 were lower than those of 2008 and 2010, whereas yield efficiency of 2009 and 2010 was similar and lower than yield efficiency of 2008. Yield parameters were generally not affected by irrigation, although DI trees tended to have lower yield, number of fruits, and yield efficiency than CI and PRD trees (Tab. 2.6).

Tab. 2.6 Production of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means ± standard errors. The bottom section reports P-values from analysis of variance (ANOVA). When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among levels of a given factor (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).

Factor	Lorrol	Viold (Irg)	N. fruits	Yield efficiency	Crop Load (Number
ractor	Level	i leiu (kg)	(count)	(kg cm ⁻²)	cm ⁻²)
	2008	32.5 ± 1.90a	213 ± 13.0a	$0.076 \pm 0.0052a$	$0.498 \pm 0.036a$
Year	2009	$24.5\pm1.44b$	$170 \pm 12.2b$	$0.050\pm0.0032b$	$0.349\pm0.027b$
	2010	$32.6 \pm 1.96a$	246 ± 14.1a	$0.061\pm0.0035b$	$0.467\pm0.026a$
	CI	31.6 ± 1.98	210 ± 14.4	0.065 ± 0.0046	0.425 ± 0.030
Irrigation	PRD	30.5 ± 1.77	215 ± 13.1	0.063 ± 0.0045	0.445 ± 0.034
	DI	27.6 ± 1.81	205 ± 14.1	0.060 ± 0.0040	0.443 ± 0.31
	Year	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
ANOVA	Irrigation	0.276	0.873	0.657	0.937
	Y×IRR	0.437	0.330	0.499	0.342

Again, the lack of interaction between year and irrigation indicated consistent responses in terms of fruit quality of 'Valencia' trees to irrigation in the three years (Tab. 2.7). Fruit weight was similar in 2008 and 2009 but lower in 2010; specific weight and juice yield were higher in 2008 compared to the following two years; juice TSS was higher in 2009 than in 2008 and 2010; juice TA was highest in 2009, followed by 2008 and lowest in 2010; fruit peel was better colored in 2008 and 2010 than in 2009 (Tab.2. 7).

In this case, irrigation significantly affected fruit quality. Fruits of DI trees were smaller than those of CI trees, whereas PRD fruits exhibited intermediate weight. Fruit size and volume showed the same response to irrigation (data not shown), as also indicated by similar fruit specific weight in the three treatments (Tab. 2.7). Fruits of DI trees yielded also less juice than fruits of CI and PRD trees, whereas juice of DI and PRD fruits showed higher TSS and TA than juice of CI fruits. Peel color was unaffected by irrigation, although CI and PRD fruits tended to be better colored than DI fruits (Tab.2.7). Sugar yield expressed in tons per hectare was higher in CI (1.21) and PRD (1.22) compared to DI (1.06).

Tab. 2.7. Fruit quality of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means ± standard errors. The bottom section reports P-values from analysis of variance (ANOVA). When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among levels of a given factor (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).

Factor	Level	Weight (g)	Specific weight (g ml ⁻¹)	Juice yield (%)	TSS (°Brix)	TA (g 100ml ⁻¹)	Color index
	2008	154.9± 3.69a	$1.042 \pm 0.0032a$	52.9± 0.31a	$11.8 \pm 0.095 b$	$1.05{\pm}~0.020{b}$	0.939± 0.0009a
Year	2009	153.7± 6.10a	$1.006 \pm 0.0044 b$	$49.8{\pm}0.46b$	$12.8{\pm}0.091a$	$1.20 \pm 0.018a$	$0.851{\pm}\ 0.0019b$
	2010	133.3± 3.10b	$1.003 \pm 0.0035 b$	$50.8 \pm 0.44 b$	$11.9{\pm}0.109{b}$	$0.99 \pm 0.014c$	$0.944 \pm 0.0015a$
	CI	156.7± 5.07a	1.020 ± 0.0042	51.5± 0.40a	$11.9 \pm 0.110b$	$1.01 \pm 0.015b$	0.904 ± 0.0045
Irrigation	PRD	$145.8 \pm 4.22ab$	1.013 ± 0.0046	$52.0 \pm 0.37a$	$12.3 \pm 0.89a$	$1.14 \pm 0.017a$	0.904 ± 0.0047
	DI	139.3± 4.31b	1.012 ± 0.0042	$49.3 \pm 0.53 b$	12.5± 0.121a	$1.15 \pm 0.025a$	0.900 ± 0.0049
	Year	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
ANOVA	Irrigation	0.016	0.365	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.254
	Y×IRR	0.420	0.934	0.150	0.362	0.069	0.491

In 2010, concentration of total carotenoids and vitamin C was higher in the juice of DI fruits than in the juice of CI fruits, and intermediate in the juice of PRD fruits (Tab. 2.8). Those differences were canceled if total carotenoids and vitamin C are measured on a fruit weight basis.

Tab. 2.8. Total carotenoids and vitamin C in juice and fruits of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI). Means \pm standard errors. When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among irrigation treatments and within each column (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).

Irrigation	Carotenoids (mg L ⁻¹)	Vitamin C (mg L ⁻¹)	Carotenoids (mg kg ⁻¹)	Vitamin C (mg kg ⁻¹)
CI	29.1±1.26b	$362\pm5.22b$	15.1 ± 0.63	188 ± 3.48
PRD	32.3± 1.22ab	$371\pm 6.55ab$	$16.5{\pm}0.67$	189 ± 4.43
DI	$35.0\pm2.08a$	382± 4.76a	17.4 ± 1.13	188 ± 3.46

When testing for differences in WUE, year and irrigation treatment never interacted, and fruit and juice WUE were higher in 2010 compared to 2008 or 2009 (Tab. 2.9). Sugar WUE was similar in the three years. Across years, fruit, juice, and sugar WUE were higher in PRD and DI trees than in CI trees (Tab.2.9). No significant difference was found between PRD and DI in terms of WUE, although PRD values were always higher on the average.

Tab.2. 9. Fruit, juice, and sugar water use efficiency (WUE) of adult 'Valencia' orange trees under conventional irrigation (CI), partial rootzone drying (PRD), and continuous deficit irrigation (DI) in the three years of observations. Means \pm standard errors. The bottom section reports P-values from analysis of variance (ANOVA). When present, lower-case letters indicate significant differences among levels of a given factor (Tukey's multiple range test, P < 0.05).

Factor	Level	Fruit WUE (g l ⁻¹)	Juice WUE (g l ⁻¹)	Sugar WUE (g l ⁻¹)
Year	2008	$9.7 \pm 0.65 b$	5.14± 0.36b	$0.61 {\pm} 0.044$
	2009	$9.3 \pm 0.81 b$	$4.61 \pm .041 b$	$0.60{\pm}0.054$
	2010	12.0± 1.01a	6.19±0.51a	0.73 ± 0.54
Irrigation	CI	$5.8 \pm 0.38 b$	3.07±0.20b	$0.36 \pm 0.24 b$
	PRD	$12.8 \pm 0.83a$	$6.62 \pm 0.41a$	$0.81 \pm 0.048a$
	DI	$12.3 \pm 0.82a$	$6.16 \pm 0.45a$	$0.76 \pm 0.54a$
	Year	0.012	0.012	0.084
ANOVA	Irrigation	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
	Y×IRR	0.189	0.378	0.530

2.4. DISCUSSION

In terms of reference evapotranspiration the three years of investigation were relatively homogeneous, whereas precipitations were particularly abundant in 2009 (Fig.2.1). However, over 70% of the 2009 annual rainfall was concentrated away from the irrigation period and did not contribute in any particular way to the water balance of the dry season.

Trends of SWP generally reflected changes in soil moisture following the imposition of irrigation treatments and indicated a good separation in time of wet and dry zones for the PRD treatment in all three years (Figs.2.2, 2.3, and 2.4). This is particularly important for the efficacy of the PRD technique, and the use of microsprinklers, along with duration and interval between irrigation events, proved to be effective. Particular care should be posed on this aspect, especially in field trials, as PRD functioning is based on the separation and alternation of wed and dry sides of the rootzone, and some negative outcomes of PRD studies may be also due to lack of this conditions. In this regard, continuous recording of SWP proved to be a useful and safe method to monitor time and spatial changes in soil moisture. Differences between SWP of DI rootzones and average SWP of wet and dry PRD rootzones are in part due to a small difference in irrigation volumes applied to the two treatments (Tab.2.4) and in part possibly due to differences in wetted soil surface and consequent soil evaporation (Marsal et al., 2008).

Comparative levels of RWC indicate that DI irrigation induced somewhat a generalized dehydration in all years, whereas PRD showed mild leaf dehydration only in 2009 (Fig.2.5), in correspondence of marked decreases in SWP of the dry side (Fig.2.4). These results are consistent with those obtained in apple (Einhorn and Caspari, 2004; Talluto et al., 2008) and with leaf water potentials of Swingle citrumelo seedlings (Melgar et al., 2010).

Reductions of g_s in PRD trees were relatively minor (on average for the three years 9% less than CI) and only sporadically significant (Fig.2.6). DI irrigation generated greater (on average for the three years 15% less than CI) and, in 2007, more

consistent g_s reductions than PRD, whereas in 2009 reductions were similar for both deficit treatments. This degree of stomatal control in DI trees, however, was not sufficient to maintain levels of hydration similar to CI trees. Previous work with greenhouse-grown citrumelo seedlings did not show significant reductions of g_s in response to PRD in spite of increases in leaf ABA (Melgar et al., 2010). However, in our study the lack of g_s response in PRD trees cannot be explained by a decrease of stomatal sensitivity to ABA due to severe stress hydraulic signals (Tardieu et al., 1993), as DI leaves (lower RWC) did show consistent g_s reductions when PRD leaves did not (i.e., 2007).

In both 2008 and 2009, there was a general response of g_s to VPD common to all irrigation treatments (Figs.2.7 and 2.8). In particular, 'Valencia' trees tended to close stomates in response to VPD increases and the response was more marked in 2009 than in 2008. This would be consistent with a feed-forward type of stomatal response (Streck 2003) perhaps involving some root-generated chemical signaling, and it generally agrees with previous observations in 'Valencia' orange trees (Medina et al., 1999). In 2008, leaf hydration level was maintained at a constant level in CI trees by a simple stomatal control and no soil water limitation. In PRD and DI, leaf hydration decreased as g_s increased (Fig. 2.9), while it did not respond to SWP (data not shown). This shows a stomatal response to soil water deficit (Fig.2.12) and not to RWC, which is typical of long-term stomatal response to soil water deficit, possibly mediated by root-generated ABA. In 2009, stomates seemed to respond more directly to leaf hydration level, at least in the low range of leaf RWC (Fig.2.10), suggesting the presence of a hydraulic component and a sort of feedback mechanism. In this year, g_s also responded to SWP, but in a non-linear fashion. The two types of associations (g_s vs RWC, and SWP vs g_s) together seem to indicate that SWP may control g_s when soil moisture and leaf RWC are relatively high (above -80 kPa for SWP and above 85% for RWC), whereas g_s seems to respond to leaf hydration when RWC falls below 85% and guard cells may start sensing low water potentials in the surrounding cells (Streck, 2003). As a result, differences, rather than discrepancies, between the two years of observations are mainly due to a
broader range of SWP in 2009 compared to 2008, which is also shown by lower SWP values reached in the rootzone of DI trees in 2009 (Fig. 2.4) than in 2008 (Fig. 2.3).

No shoot or trunk growth reduction was observed in response to deficit irrigation in this study (Fig. 2.16). Similarly, total plant growth was not reduced by PRD in Swingle citrumelo seedlings (Melgar et al., 2010). On the contrary, mandarin trunk growth was reduced by PRD (Kirda et al., 2007). Contrasting results are also reported in other woody crops, and studies with field-grown apples suggest that the vegetative growth response to PRD may depend on seasonal irrigation volumes (O'Connell and Goodwin 2007; Talluto et al., 2008).

Maintenance of relatively high leaf hydration levels under reduced soil moisture of PRD and DI treatments cannot be simply explained by reductions of tree water consumption through stomatal control, especially in PRD. Other mechanisms must have played a major role. Adjustments of leaf area should not have played any significant role as shoot and trunk growth were not diminished by PRD or DI irrigation. On the other hand, changes in root functionality and sap flow (not measured in this study) following partial drying of the rootzone, and specifically greatly increased root sap flows after rewetting of the dry portion, have been observed in other fruit crops (Green and Clothier 1999; Green et al., 2006). Also, experiments on Swingle citrumelo seedlings (Melgar et al., 2010) suggest that root growth (especially length of the dry side) may contribute to sustain water absorption, root functionality, and ultimately maintain relatively high g_s levels under PRD conditions. This may help explain differences in leaf hydration level between PRD and DI even when g_s of PRD trees was not reduced.

Fruit growth was affected by irrigation only in sporadic occasions between late July and early August, when atmospheric water demand is relatively high and irrigation has generated significant water deficit in the soil, and fruit RGR did not show any specific difference between DI and PRD fruits (Fig.2.15). Our fruit size data (Fig.2.14), however, agree with the general concept that PRD irrigation does not affect fruit growth and final size in different crops (Leib et al. 2006; Spreer et al., 2007; Talluto et al. 2008; Van Hooijdonk et al. 2004). On the contrary, simple reductions of irrigation volumes may result in a typical water deficit response leading to fruit size reductions as documented in apple (Talluto et al. 2008), but also in citrus (González-Altozano and Castel, 1999; Hutton, 2004; Pérez-Pérez et al. 2008).

The lack of a major irrigation effect on vegetative growth, but also fruit growth, resulted in similar yields for all treatments. Interestingly, also number of fruits per tree and especially crop load were similar in all treatments, including DI. This agrees with previous observations on drip-irrigated navel oranges under PRD (Dzikiti et al., 2008), but is apparently inconsistent with other studies in citrus where yield were reduced by deficit irrigation (Eliades et al., 2004; González-Altozano and Castel, 1999; Hutton, 2004). However, citrus yield reductions under deficit irrigation have been associated to either increased fruit drop in case of early deficit, or to reduced fruit size in case of late deficit (González-Altozano and Castel, 1999). In our study, soil moisture conditions and the long and slow growth cycle of 'Valencia' fruit did not cause any significant fruit drop, and only a size reduction effect of DI fruit was significant at harvest. Evidently the fruit size effect alone was not sufficient to cause significant yield reductions. PRD trees in our case did not even suffer fruit size reductions, whereas size of navel oranges has been reduced by both PRD and reductions in irrigation volumes (Treeby et al., 2007). Juice TSS and TA were both increased to a similar degree by PRD and DI (Tab. 2.7), and this is a very well established response in citrus particularly when water deficit is imposed during late fruit growth (Castel and Buj, 1990; Peng and Rabe, 1998; González-Altozano and Castel, 1999; Hutton et al., 2007). Although our 'Valencia' fruits had completed only 1/3 of their growth period toward the end of treatment imposition (about 120 days after bloom in mid August, they had already reached 80 to 90% of final size, so water deficit occurred certainly during late growth stages.

DI irrigation also increased the concentration of total carotenoids and vitamin C in the juice and content in the fruit, whereas PRD irrigation induced intermediate levels of the two dietary supplements (Tab.2.8). This was not due to fruit dehydration as using percent juice water content as a covariate in the analysis did not cancel differences in carotenoids or vitamin C. On the contrary, differences were canceled when carotenoids and vitamin C were expressed on per kilogram of fruit due to differences in juice yield.

Yet, the simple reduction of irrigation volumes (DI) over conventional irrigation caused a 2.2% reduction of juice yield, corresponding to a loss of over 1.6 tons of juice per hectare and about 150 kg of sugars per hectare. On the contrary, water savings of over 1.9 megaliters per hectare and per year with PRD did not cause major or significant losses.

Juice and sugar losses of DI fruits were in part compensated by water savings associated to a 59% reduction of irrigation volumes. Important reductions of irrigation volumes (59% in DI and 57% in PRD), in fact, determined significant increases in fruit, juice and sugar WUE of both deficit treatments over CI. This translated into more grams of fruit, juice, or sugars per liter of irrigation water in DI and PRD indicating that withholding water, especially by the PRD technique, may be beneficial to the economy of Mediterranean citrus farmers.

2.5. CONCLUSIONS

Overall, our observations show that seasonal growth and final yields of 'Valencia' orange trees under the Mediterranean climate of Northern Sicily were not affected by PRD or continuous deficit irrigation. Tree responses to the two deficit irrigation treatments differed with respect to water status, but changes in stomatal control (either VPD- or ABA-mediated) alone were not sufficient to explain differences. It is likely that a combination of the amount and the way of applying irrigation water (PRD), rather than just the irrigation volume (DI), is responsible for the triggering of more efficient mechanisms to maintain sufficient leaf hydration levels. This translated into maintenance of shoot and fruit growth throughout the season, and ultimately to yields comparable to conventionally irrigated trees. Continuous deficit irrigation eventually resulted in a stress response, which penalized fruit size and juice yield, emphasizing the importance of alternated rootzone wetting over a simple reduction of irrigation volumes.

In areas like the Mediterranean regions, where water resources are a limiting factor for agricultural productions due to low and non-uniform precipitations, inefficient distribution or strong competition from municipalities and touristic activities, costs associated to water acquisition and in-farm distribution may be high and affect significantly the farmers' income. In those situations, saving water through appropriate irrigation strategies has a direct impact on farming economy, and reducing costs associated to irrigation without yield losses is by itself an outstanding achievement. If we add to this the environmental benefits associated to reducing irrigation volumes, i.e., saving energy (less pollution) but also maintaining a good quality of water and soil resources, deficit irrigation strategies should be taken into serious consideration even when certain yield losses occur. Future studies will have to explore into more detail the nutritional status of trees under PRD and deficit irrigation in general, as well as conduct site-specific economical analysis to evaluate where and when applying PRD irrigation strategies at a commercial scale may be viable to growers.

59

REFERENCES

- Ali MH (2010) Fundamentals of Irrigation and On-farm Water Management. Springer, Vol. 1, ISBN 978-1-4419-6334-5Academic Press, London.
- Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raes D, Smith M (1998) Crop evapotranspiration. Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO irrigation and drainage paper no. 56, Rome, Italy.
- Antolín MC, Ayari M, Sánchez-Díaz M (2006) Effects of partial rootzone drying on yield, ripening and berry ABA in potted Tempranillo grapevines with split roots. Aust J Grape Wine Res 12:13-20.
- Bates LM, Hall AE (1981) Stomatal closure with soil water depletion not associated with changes in bulk water status. Oecologia (Berlin) 50:62-65.
- Barbagallo RN, Palmeri R, Fabiano S, Rapisarda P, Spagna G (2007) Characteristic of βglucosidase from Sicilian blood oranges in relation to anthocyanin degradation. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 41:570–575
- Behboudian MH, Mils TM (1997) Deficit irrigation in deciduous orchards. Hort Rev 21:105-130
- Benk, E (1961) Detection of added β-carotene in orange juice and orange juice product.Deut. Lebensm. Rundschau 57: 324-329
- Blackman PG, Davies WJ (1985) Root to Shoot Communication in Maize Plants of the Effects of Soil Drying J. Exp. Bot. 36(1):39-48.
- Blum A (2009) Effective use of water (EUW) and not water-use efficiency (WUE) is the target of crop yield improvement under drought stress. Field Crops Research 112: 119–123.

- Barbagallo RN, Palmeri R, Fabiano S, Rapisarda P, Spagna G (2007) Characteristic of βglucosidase from Sicilian blood oranges in relation to anthocyanin degradation.Enzyme and Microbial Technology 41:570–575
- Bravdo BA (2000) Irrigation of temperate fruit trees in dry and warm conditions. In A. Erez (ed.). Temperate fruit crops in warm climate. Kluwer Academic Publishers. The Netherlands, pp. 49-76.
- Bravdo B (2005) Physiological mechanisms involved in the production of non-hydraulic root signals by partial rootzone drying A review. Acta Horticulturae. 689:267-275.
- Brouwer C, Prins K, Heibloem M (1989) Irrigation Water Management: Irrigation Scheduling. FAO, Training manual no. 4.
- Buckley TN, Mott KA (2000) Stomatal responses to non-local changes in PFD: evidence for long-distance hydraulic interactions. Plant, Cell and Environment 23:301-309.
- Bussakorn SM, Behboudian MH, Dixon J, Neal SM, Caspari HW (2000) Improvement of fruit quality and storage potential of 'Braeburn' apple through deficit irrigation. Journal of Horticultural Science & Biotechnology 75 (5): 615-621.
- Camacho BSE (1977) Some aspects of leaf stomatal behaviour of citrus. Proc. Int. Soc. Citriculture 1: 66-69.
- Caspari HW, Behboudian MH, Chalmers DJ (1994) Water use, growth, and fruit yield of 'Hosui' Asian pears under deficit irrigation. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 119:383-388.
- Castel JR, Buj A (1990) Response of Salustiana oranges to high frequency deficit irrigation. Irrig Sci 11:121-127.
- Cartabellotta D,Drago A, Lo Bianco B, Lombardo M (1998) Climatologia della Sicilia. Regione Siciliana, Assessorato Agricoltura e Foreste, Palermo.
- Castel JR (1997) Evapotranspiration of a drip-irrigated Clementine citrus tree in a weighing lysimeter. Acta Hortic. 449, 91–98.

- Castel JR, Buj A (1993) Riego por goteo deficitario en naranjos adultos 'Salustiana' durante siete años. Invest Agr: Prod Prot Veg 8(2), 191-204. [In Spanish].
- Chalmers DJ, Mitchell PD, van Heek LAG (1981) Control of peach tree growth and productivity by regulated water supply, tree density, and summer pruning. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 106:307-312.
- Chartzoulakis K, Michelakis N and Stefanoudaki E (1999). Water use, growth, yield and fruit quality of 'Bonanza' oranges under different soil water regimes. Adv Hort Sci 13, 6-11.
- Chaves MM, Osorio J,Pereira JS (2004) Water use efficiency and photosynthesis. In M.A., Bacon (ed.). Water Use Efficiency in plant Biology. Blackwell Publishers, London. Pp. 43-74.
- Cifre J, Bota J, Escalona JM, Medrano H, Flexas J (2005) Physiological tools for irrigation scheduling in grapevine (Vitis vinifera, L.) an open gate to improve wateruse efficiency? Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 106, 159–170.
- Cohen S, CohenY (1983) Field studies of leaf conductance response to environmental variables in citrus. J. Appl. Ecol., 20: 561-570.
- Coutts M P (1982) Water Relations of Sitka Spruce Seedlings After Root DamageAnn Bot 49(5):661-668.
- Cui N, DuT Kang, Sli F, Zhang J, Wang M LiZ (2008) Regulated deficit irrigation improved fruit quality and water use efficiency of pear-jujube trees. Agr. Water Manage. 95, 698–706.
- Davies WJ, Kozlowski TT (1974) Stomatal responses of five woody angiosperms to light intensity and humidity. Can. J. Bot. 52: 1525-1534.
- Davies WJ and Zhang JH (1991) Root signals and the regulation of growth and development of plants in drying soil. Annu. Rev. Plant Phys. 42; 55–76.

- Davies WJ, Bacon MA, Thompson DS, Sobeih W and Rodriguez LG (2000) Regulation of leaf and fruit growth in plants growing in drying soil: Exploitation of the plant's chemical signalling system and hydraulic architecture to increase the efficiency of water use in agriculture. J. Exp. Bot.51, 1617–1626.
- Davies WJ, Wilinson S, Loveys B (2002) Stomatal control by chemical signalling and the exploitation of this mechanism to increase water use efficiency in agriculture. New Phytol 153:449-460.
- Davies W, Kudoyarova G and Hartung W (2005) Long-distance ABA signaling and its relation to other signaling pathways in the detection of soil drying and the mediation of the plant's response to drought. J. Plant Growth Regul. 24, 285–295.
- Debaeke P, Aboudrare A (2004) Adaptation of crop management to water-limited environments. Eur. J. Agron. 21, 433-446.
- Düring H, Loveys BR (1996) Root signals water use efficiency and shoot growth . Acta horticulturae . 427: 1-16.
- Dorji K, Behboudian MH, Zegbe-Dominguez JA (2005) Water relations, growth, yield, and fruit quality of hot pepper under deficit irrigation and partial root zone drying, Sci. Hortic., 104: 137-149.
- Dry PR, Loveys BR, Botting D and During H (1996). Effect of partial root-zone drying on grapevine vigour yield composition of fruit and use of water. In: Stockeley C, Sas A, Johnstone R, Lee T,eds. Proceedings of the Ninth Australian Wine Industry Technical Conference. Adelaide. pp. 128–131.
- Dry PR and Loveys BR (1999) Grapevine shoot growth and stomatal conductance are reduced when part of the root system is dried. Vitis 38, 151–156.
- Dry PR, Loveys BR (2000) Partial drying of the rootzone of grape. I. Transient changes in shoot growth and gas exchange. Vitis 39, 3–7.
- Deng XP, Shan L, Zhan H, Turner, NC(2006) Improving agricultural water use

efficiency in arid and semi-arid areas of China. Agric. Water Manage. 80, 23–40.

- Dodd IC, Egea G, Davies WJ (2008a) ABA signalling when soil moisture is heterogeneous: decreased photoperiod sap flow from drying roots limits ABA export to the shoots. Plant Cell Envir 31:1263-1274.
- Dodd IC, Egea G, Davies WJ (2008b) Accounting for sap flow from different parts of the root system improves the prediction of xylem ABA concentration in plants grown with heterogeneous soil moisture. J Exp Bot 59:4083-4093.
- Doorenbos J, Kassam AH (1979) "Yield Response to Water," Irrigation and Drainage Paper 33, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, Italy, 193.
- Doorenbos J, Pruitt WO (1977) Crop water requirements. FAO irrigation and drainage paper no. 24, Rome, Italy.
- Dry PR, Loveys BR (1998) Factors influencing grapevine vigour and the potential for control with partial rootzone drying. Austral J Grape Wine Res 4:140-148.
- Dry PR, Loveys BR (1999) Grapevine shoot growth and stomatal conductance are reduced when part of the root system is dried. Vitis 38:151-154.
- Dry PR, Loveys BR, Botting DG, Düring H (1995) Effects of partial root-zone drying on grapevine vigour, yield, composition of fruit and use of water. Proc Ninth Austral Wine Ind Tech Conf 128-131.
- Dry, P.R., Loveys, B.R., Botting, D., Du[¬]ring, H., 1996. Effect of partial root-zone drying on grapevine vigour, yield, composition of fruit and use of water. In: Stockley, C., Sas, A., Johnstone, R., Lee, T. (Eds.), In: Proceedings of the Ninth Australian wine industry technical conference, Adelaide, pp. 128–131.
- Dry PR, Loveys BR, Düring H (2000) Partial drying of the rootzone of grape. I. Transient changes in shoot growth and gas exchange. Vitis 39:3-7.

- Dzikiti S (2007) Stomatal oscillations and the response of citrus trees to different irrigation strategies in northern Zimbabwe. PhD Thesis, Ghent University, Belgium. ISBN-number: 978-90-5989-191-3.
- Dzikiti S, Steppe K, Lemeur R (2008) Partial rootzone drying of drip irrigated 'Navel' orange trees [Citrus sinensis (L.) Osbeck] under semi-arid tropical conditions. Acta Hort. 792:249-256.
- Einhorn T, Caspari HW (2004) Partial rootzone drying and deficit irrigation of 'Gala' apples in a semi-arid climate. Acta Hort 664:197-204.
- Elfving DC, Kaufmann, M. R. and Hall, A. E (1972) Interpreting leaf water potential measurements with a model of the SPAC. Physiol. Plant. 27: 161-168.
- Eliades G (1994) Response of grapefruit to different amounts of water applied by drippers and minisprinklers. Acta Hort 365, 129-146.
- Eliades G, Georgiou A, Papadopulos I (2004) Effect of conventional irrigation and alternate rootzone drying with sufficient or deficient irrigation water on the production of marsh seedless grapefruit. Agricoltura Mediterranea 134:178-184.
- English M (1990) Deficit irrigation. I: analytical framework. J. Irrig. Drain E.-ASCE 116, 399-412.
- Evans RO, Sneed RE ,Cassel DK (1991) Irrigation scheduling to improve water and energy use efficiencies. AG-452-4. N. C. Cooperative Extension Service. 12 p.
- Falivene S, Giddings J, Hardy S, Sanderson G (2006) Managing citrus orchards with less water . primefacts "www.dpi.nsw.gov.au"
- FAO (1994) Irrigation water delivery model. In Skutsch, C.J., (editor) Proceeding of the FAO expert consultation, water report. Rome.
- FAO (1997) Small-scale irrigation for arid zones: Principles and options. ISSN 1020-0819

FAO (2002) water reports, Deficit Irrigation Practices. ISBN 92-5-104768-5

- Fereres E, Cruz-Romero G, Hoffman GJ, Rawlins SL (1979) Recovery of Orange Trees Following Severe Water Stress. J. Appl. Ecol. 16, 833-842.
- Fereres E, Evans RG(2006) Irrigation of fruit trees and vines: an introduction. Irrigation science 24, 55-57.
- Garcia Petillo M, Castel JR (2007) Water balance and crop coefficient estimation of a citrus orchard in Uruguay. Span J Agric Res (5)2, 232-243.
- Geerts S, Raes D (2009) Deficit irrigation as an on-farm strategy to maximize crop water productivity in dry areas. Agr. Water Manage. 96, 1275–1284.
- Grismer ME (2000) Long-term evapotranspiration from coastal avocado/citrus orchard. J Irrig and Drain Engrg 126(1), 1-7.
- Grant OM, Stoll M, Jones HG (2004) Partial root zone drying does not affect fruit yield of raspberries. J. Hortic. Sci.Biotechnol. 79, 125–130.
- Goldhamer DA (1997) Regulated deficit irrigation for California canning olives. Acta Hort 474:369-372.
- Goldhamer DA and M Salinas (2000). Evaluation of regulated deficit irrigation on mature orange trees grown under high evaporative demand. Proc Intl Soc Citriculture IX Congr. p227–31.
- Goldhamer DA, Beede RH (2004) Regulated deficit irrigation effects on yield, nut quality and water-use efficiency of mature pistachio trees. J Hort Sci Biotechnol 79:538-545.
- Goldhamer DA, Viveros M, Salinas M (2006) Regulated deficit irrigation in almonds: effects of variations in applied water and stress timing on yield and yield components. Irrig Sci 24:101-114.
- Goldhamer DA, Salinas M (2000) Evaluation of regulated deficit irrigation on mature 66

orange trees grown under high evaporative demand. Proc. Intl. Soc. Citrucult. IX Congress 227-231.

- Gómez-Rico A, Salvador MD, Moriana A, Pérez D, Olmedilla N, Ribas F, Fregapane G (2007) Influence of different irrigation strategies in a traditional Cornicabra cv. olive orchard on virgin olive oil composition and quality. Food Chemistry 100: 568–578.
- González-Altozano P, Castel JR (1999) Regulated deficit irrigation in 'Clementina de Nules' citrus trees. I. Yield and fruit quality effects. J Hort Sci Biotechnol 74:706-713.
- Goodwin I, Boland AM (2000) scheduling deficit irrigation of fruit trees for optimizing water use efficiency. FAO water reports (Rome) 22, 67-78.
- Goodwin I, Jerie PH (1992) Regulated deficit irrigation: From concept to practice. Aust. and N.Z. Wine Industry Journal 4: 258-61.
- Goodwin I, Boland AM (2000) Scheduling deficit irrigation of fruit trees for optimizing water use efficiency.FAO, ISBN 92-5-104768-5.
- Gowing DJG, Davies WJ, Jones HG (1990) A positive root-sourced signal as an indicator of soil drying in apple, Malus × domestica Borkh. J Exp Bot 41:1535-1540.
- Green SR, Clothier B (1999) The root zone dynamics of water uptake by a mature apple tree. Plant Soil 206:61-77.
- Green SR, Kirkham MB, Clothier BE (2006) Root uptake and transpiration: From measurements and models to sustainable irrigation. Agric Water Manag 86:165-176.
- Gu S, Du G, Zoldoske D, Hakim A, Cochran R, Fugelsang K, Jorgensen G (2004) Effects of irrigation amount on water relations, vegetative growth, yield and fruit composition of Sauvignon blanc grapevines under partial rootzone drying and conventional irrigation in the San Joaquin Valley of California, USA. J Hort Sci Biotech 79:26-33.

- Habermann G, Machado EC, Rodrigues JD, Camilo Lázaro Medina (2003) CO2 assimilation, photosynthetic light response curves, and water relations of 'Pêra' sweet orange plants infected with Xylella fastidiosa, Braz. J. Plant Physiol., 15(2):79-87.
- Hall AE, Camacho-BSE, Kaufmann MR (1975)Regulation of Water Loss by Citrus Leaves. Physiol. Plant., 33, 62-65.
- Hall AE, Camacho-BSE, Kaufmann, M. R. and Hoffman, G. J. (1976) Leaf conductance response to humidity and water transport in plants. Agronomy J. 68, 876-81.
- Hilgeman RH (1977) Response of citrus trees to water stress in Arizona. Proc. Int. Soc. Citriculture. 1: 70-74.
- Hoffman GJ, Oster JD, Alves WJ (1982) Evapotranspiration of mature orange trees under drip irrigation in an arid climate. T ASAE 25(4), 992-996.
- Hsaio TC (1973) Plant responses to water stress. Annual Review of Plant Physiology;24:519-570.
- Hueso J, Cuevas J (2008) Loquat as a crop model for successful deficit irrigation. Irrig. Sci. 26, 269–276.
- Hutton RJ (2004) Effects of cultural management and different irrigation regimes on tree growth, production, fruit quality and water relations of sweet orange C. sinensis (L.)Osbeck. PhD thesis, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia.
- Hutton RJ, Landsberg JJ, Sutton BG (2007) Timing irrigation to suit citrus phenology: a means of reducing water use without compromising fruit yield and quality? Aust J Exp Agric 47:71-80.
- Jackson L (1991) Citrus growing in Florida, 3rd Edition. University of Florida Press, Gainesville, Fla. p. 44-48, 102, 114, 142, 177, 193, 195, 196, 235.
- Jarvis P G, Edwards WRN and Talbot H (1981) Models of plant and crop water use. p.

151-194. In: D.A. Rose and D.A. Charles-Edwards (eds.), Mathematics and plant physiology.

- Jensen M E, Burman RD and Allen RG (1990) Evapotranspiration and irrigation water requirements. ASCE Manuals and Reports on Engineering Prac-tice, No. 70. ISBN-10: 0872627632. ISBN-13: 9780872627635.
- Jones JW, Zur B, Boote KJ, Hammond LC (1982) Plant resistance to water flow in field soybeans. 1. Non limiting soil moisture. Agronomy Journal 74:92 98.
- Jones WW, Cree CB (1964) Environmental factors related to fruiting of Washington navel oranges over a 38-year period. Proc. Amer. Hort. Soc. 86:267-271.
- John RP (1966) Plant water relations: some physical aspects. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 17, 245–268.
- Kang SZ, Li ZJ, Hu XT, Jerie P and Zhang L (2001) An improved water use efficiency for hot pepper grown under controlled alternate drip irrigation on partial roots. Sci. Hort. 89, 257–267.
- Kang S, Hu X., Goodwin I., Jerie P (2002) Soil water distribution, water use and yield response to partial root zone drying under a shallow groundwater table condition in a pear orchard. Acta Hortic. 92, 277–291.
- Kang S., Hu X, Jeriec P, Zhang, J (2003) The effects of partial rootzone drying on root, trunk sap flow and water balance in an irrigated pear (Pyrus communis L.) orchard.J. of Hydrol. 280:192-206.
- Kang SZ, ZhangJ (2004) Controlled alternate partial root-zone irrigation: its physiological consequences and impact on water use efficiency. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 407, 2437–2446.
- Kirda C, Cetin M, DasganY, Topcu S, KamanH, Ekici B, Derici MR ,Ozguven AI(2004)Yield response of greenhouse grown tomato to partial root drying and conventional deficit irrigation. Agricultural Water Management 69. 191–201.

- Kirda C, Topcu S, Cetin M, Dasgan HY, Kaman H, Topaloglu F, Derici MR, Ekici B (2007) Prospects of partial root zone irrigation for increasing irrigation water use efficiency of major crops in the Mediterranean region. Ann Appl Biol 150:281-291.
- Kirkham MB (2005) Principles of soil and Plant Water Relations. Elsevier Academic Press. ISBN: 0-12-409751-0.
- Koo RCJ (1969) Irrigation requirements of citrus grown on Lakewood fine sand. Proc. Soil Crop Sci. Soc. Fla. 15: 180-190.
- Kozlowski TT (1974) Water deficits and plant growth. Vol. (IV). Academic Press, New York.
- Kramer PJ(1983) Water relations of plants. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA.
- Kriedemann PE, Barrs H D (1981) Citrus Orchards. In T. T. Kozlowski, (ed.) Water Deficit and Plant Growth. Vol. 6: 325-417. Academic Press, NY and London.
- Lakso AN (1983) Morphological and Physiological Adaptations for Maintaining Photosynthesis under Water Stress in Apple Trees. In: Stress Effects on Photosynthesis. Marcelle, R., H. Clijsters and M. Van Pouke (eds.). Nijhoff/ Junk, The Hague, pp. 85-93.
- Lakso AN (1986) Photosynthesis in fruit trees in relation to environmental factors. In:A.N.Lakso and F. Lenz. (eds.). Regulation of photosynthesis in fruit trees. N. Y.State Agr. Expt. Sta.Spec.Publ., 1986, 34.
- Lasko AN (2003) Water relations. In D.C. Ferree and I.J. Warrington (eds). Apples: Botany, production and uses. CABI publishing Wallingford, Oxon, UK, PP. 167-194.
- Loveys BR, Dry PR, Stoll M, McCarthy MG (2000) Using plant physiology to improve the water use efficiency of horticultural crops. Acta Hort., 537, 187–199.

- LevyY (1980) Effect of Evaporative Demand on Water Relations of Citrus limonb. Annals of Bot.46 (6): 695-700.
- Levy Y, Bielorai H. and Shalhevet J (1978) Long-term effects of different irrigation regimes on grapefruit tree development and yield. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 103, 680-3.
- Leib BG, Horst Caspari W, Preston K, Andrews Cristoti, Redulla A, Jay D, Jabro ,Dave Strausz (2004) Deficit Irrigation and Partial Rootzone Drying Compared in Fuji Apples: Fruit Yield, Fruit Quality and Soil Moisture Trends. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers annual meeting.
- Landsberg JJ, Beadle CL, Biscoe PV, Butler DR, Davidson B, Incoll LD, James GB, Jarvis PG, Martin PJ, Neilson R E, Powell DBB, Slack EM, Thorpe M R, Turner NC, Warrit B, WattsW R (1975) Diurnal energy, water and C02 exchanges in an apple (Malus pumila) orchard. J. Appl. Ecol. 12: 659-684.
- Lampinen BD, Shackel KA, Southwick SM, Olson B, Yeager JT, Goldhamer D (1995) Sensitivity of yield and fruit quality of French prune to water deprivation at different fruit growth stages. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 120:139-147.
- Leib BG, Caspari HW, Redulla CA, Andrews PK, Jabro JJ (2006) Partial rootzone drying and deficit irrigation of 'Fuji' apples in semi-arid climate. Irrig Sci 24:85-99.
- Lombardini L, Caspari HW, Elfving DC, Auvil TD and Mcferson JR (2004) Gas exchange and water relations in 'Fuji' apple trees grown under deficit irrigation. Acta Horticulturae. 636: 43-50.
- Marsal J, Mata M, Arbonés A, Rufat J, Girona J (2002) Regulated deficit irrigation and rectification of irrigation scheduling in young pear trees: an evaluation based on vegetative and productive response, Eur. J. Agron. 17, 111–122.
- Marouelli W, Silva W (2007) Water tension thresholds for processing tomatoes under drip irrigation in Central Brazil. Irrig. Sci. 25, 411–418.

- Mantell A, Meirovitch A, Goell A(1976) The response of Shamouti orange on sweet lime rootstock to different irrigation regimes in the spring and summer (Progress report, 1973-1974).
- Manner HI, Buker RS, Smith EV, Ward D, and Elevitch CR (2006) Citrus (citrus) and Fortunella (kumquat). Species Profiles for Pacific Island Agroforestry
- Marsal J, Mata M, Del Campo J, Arbones A, Vallverdú X, Girona J, Olivo N (2008) Evaluation of partial root-zone drying for potential field use as a deficit irrigation technique in commercial vineyards according to two different pipeline layouts. Irrig Sci 26:347-356.
- Mantell A, Meirovitch A, Goell A (1976) The response of Shamouti orange on sweet lime rootstock to different irrigation regimes in the spring and summer (Progress report, 1973-1974).
- Mccarthy MG, Loveys BR, Dry PR, Stoll M (2002) Regulated deficit irrigation and partial rootzone drying as irrigation management techniques for grapevines. In "Deficit irrigation practices". FAO Water reports 22:79-87.
- McCutchan H, Shackel KA (1992) Stem-water potential as a sensitive indicator of water stress in prune trees (Prunus domestica L. cv. French). Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 117(4):607-611.
- Medina CL, Machado EC, Gomes MMA (1999) Condutância estomática, transpiração e fotossíntese de laranjeira Valência sob deficiência hídrica. Rev Bras Fisiol Veg 11:29–34.
- Meinzer F C, James SA, Goldesten G., Woodruf FD (2003) Whole-tree water transport scales with sapwood capacitance in tropical forest canopy trees. Plant, Cell and Environment 26, 1147–1155.
- Melgar JC, Dunlop JM, Syvertsen JP (2010) Growth and physiological responses of the citrus rootstock Swingle citrumelo seedlings to partial rootzone drying and deficit

irrigation. J Agric Sci Cambridge 148:593-602.

- Mingo D and Davies WJ (2001) New Irrigation Methods to Increase Water and Nutrient Use Efficiency. International Fertiliser Society. EPID86797435.
- Mingo DM., Bacon MA. and Davies WJ (2003). Non-hydraulic regulation of fruit growth in tomato plants (Lycopersicum esculentum cv Solairo) growing in drying soil. J. Exp. Bot. 54;1205–1212.
- Milind S, Ladaniya (2008) Citrus Fruit: Biology, Technology and Evaluation. ISBN: 978-0-12-374130-1.
- Mitchell PD, Chalmers DJ (1982) The effect of reduced water supply on peach tree growth and yields. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 107:853-56.
- Mitchell PD, Van Den Ende B, Jerie PH, Chalmers DJ (1989) Responses of 'Bartlett' pear to withholding irrigation, regulated deficit irrigation, and tree spacing. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 114:15-19.
- Molden D, Murray-Rust H, Sakthivadivel R, Makin I (2003) A water productivity framework for understanding and action. In: Kijne, J.W., Barker, R., Molden, D. (Eds.) Water Productivity in Agriculture: Limits and Opportunities for Improvement. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK, pp. 1–18.
- Moreshet S, Cohen Y, Fuchs M (1983) Response of mature 'Shamouti' orange trees to irrigation of diVerent soil volumes at similar levels of available water. Irrigation Science 3, 223–36.
- Moriana A, Orgaz F, Pastor M, Fereres E (2003) Yield responses of mature olive orchard to water deficits. J Amer Soc Hort Sci 123:425-431.
- Morison JIL, Baker NR, Mullineaux PM, Davies WJ (2008) Improving water use in crop production. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 363:639–658.
- Moss G I, Muirhead WA (1971a) Climatic and tree factors relating to the yield of

orange trees. I. Investigations on 'Washington Navel' and 'Late Valencia' cultivars. Hort. Res. 11, 3-17.

- MossG I, Muirhead W A (1971b) Climatic and tree factors relating to the yield of orange trees. II. Interactions with cultural and nitrogen fertiliser treatments. Hort. Res., 11, 75-84.
- Motilva MJ, Tovar MJ, Romero MP, Alegre S, Girona J (2000) Influence of regulated deficit irrigation strategies applied to olive trees (Arbequina cultivar) on oil yield and oil composition during the fruit ripening period. J. Sci. Food Agric. 80 (14): 2037-2043.
- Moufida S, Marzouk B (2003) Biochemical characterization of blood orange, sweet orange, lemon, bergamot and bitter orange. 62, 1283-1289.
- Mullins MG, Bouquet A, Williams LE (1992) Biology of the Grapevine. Cambridge University Press. Great Britain. 239 p.
- Nonami, H, Schulze ED and Zeiger H. (1990) Mechanisms of stomatal movement in response to air humidity, irradiance and xylem water potential. Planta, 183:57–64.
- <u>O'connell</u> MG, <u>Goodwin L (2007a)</u> Water stress and reduced fruit size in micro-irrigated pear trees under deficit partial rootzone drying. <u>Australian journal of agricultural</u> <u>research</u>, vol. 58, no7, pp. 670-679.
- O'Connell MG, Goodwin L (2007) Responses of 'Pink Lady' apple to deficit irrigation and partial rootzone drying: physiology, growth, yield and fruit quality. Austral J Agric Res 58:1068-1076.
- ParikhHR, NairGM, Modi VV (1990) Some structural changes during ripening of mangoes (Mangifera Indica var. Alphonso) by abscisic acid treatment. Ann. Bot. 65, 121–127.
- Parsons LR (1989) Management of micro-irrigation systems for Florida citrus. Fruit Crops Fact Sheet. Univ. Fla. Coop. Ext. Svc. Circ. 487.

- Parsons LR, Morgan KT (2004) Management of Microsprinkler Systems for Florida Citrus Univ. Fla. Coop. Ext. Svc. Circ. HS958.
- Peng YH, Rabe E (1998) Effect of differing irrigation regimes on fruit quality, yield, fruit size and net CO2 assimilation of 'Mihowase' satsuma. J Hort Sci Biotechnol 73:229-234.
- Pereira JS, Kozlowski T T (1978) Diurnal and seasonal changes in water balance of Acer sacharum and Betula papyrifera. Physiologia Pl. 43, 19-30.
- Pérez-Pérez JG, Romero P, Navarro JM, Botia P (2008) Response of sweet orange cv.'Lane late' to deficit irrigation in two rootstocks. I: water relations, leaf gas exchange and vegetative growth. Irrig Sci 26:415–425.
- Pérez-Pérez J G, Syvertsen J P, Botía P, García-Sánchez F (2007) Leaf Water Relations and Net Gas Exchange Responses of Salinized Carrizo Citrange Seedlings during Drought Stress and Recovery Ann Bot. 100(2): 335–345.
- Pickering AH, Behboudian MH, Mills TM(2002)Stress physiology of the grapevine: An overview. Recent Research Developments in Plant Biology 2 (Pt. 2): 303-320.
- Pires RCM, Silva E A ,da Bodine Junior D, Sakai E ,Giacomelli V , Girotto EJ , Silva JA, da Kobayashi E S (2008) Duration of imposed water deficit periods on irrigated orange productivity. Proceedings of the International Conference of Agricultural Engineering, XXXVII Brazilian Congress of Agricultural Engineering, International Livestock Environment Symposium ILES VIII, Iguassu Falls City, Brazil.
- Rajan SS (2003) Physiology of transport in plants. Anmol PublicationsPvt. Ltd. N.Delhi. ISBAN81-261-1362-6.
- Raschke K (1970) Leaf hydraulic system: Rapid epidermal and stomatal responses to changes in water supply. Science 167, 189-191.
- Richards RA, Rebetzke GJ, CondonAG, Van Herwaarden AF (2002) Breeding opportunities for increasing the efficiency of water use and crop yield in temperate

cereals.Crop Sci ; 42 : 111-121.

- Ritchie JT (1972)Model for predicting evaporation from a row crop with incomplete cover. Water Resour. Res. 8 (5) 1204-1213.
- Rieger M (2006) Introduction to fruit crops. The Haworth press. Inc.doi: 10.1300/5547-11
- Romero P, Botia P, Garcia F (2004) Effects of regulated deficit irrigation under subsurface drip irrigation conditions on water relations of mature almond trees. Plant Soil 260, 155–168.
- Ruiz-Sanchez MC, Torrecillas A, Pérez-Pastor A, Domingo R (2000) Regulated deficit irrigation in apricot trees. Acta Hort 537:759-766.
- Ruggiero C, De Pascale S, Angelino G, Maggio A (2003) Development changes in plant resistance to water flow in Pisum sativum (L.). Plant and Soil 250:121-128.
- Salleo S, Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA (2000) Xylem cavitation and hydraulic control of stomatal in Laurel (*Laurel nobilis* L). Plant Cell & Environment 23:71-79.
- Santos TP, Lopes CM, Rodrigues ML, Souza CR, Maroco JP, Pereira JS, Silva JR, Chaves MM (2003) Partial rootzone drying, effects on growth and fruit quality of field-grown grapevines (Vitis vinifera). Funct Plant Biol 30:663-671.
- Schulze ED (1986) Carbon dioxide and water vapour exchange in response to drought in the atmosphere and in the soil. Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol. 37, 247-274.
- Schulze ED, Kellieher FM, Krner C, Loyd J, Leuning R (1994) Relationships between plant nitrogen nutrition, carbon assimilation rate, and maximum stomatal and ecosystem surface conductance for evaporation: a global ecology scaling exercise. Annu. Rev. Eco. Syst. 25, 629-660.
- Sepaskhah AR, Kashefipour SM, (1995)Evapotranspiration and crop coefficient of sweet lime under drip irrigation. Agric Water Manage 27, 331-340.

- Shalhevet J, Bielorai H (1978) Crop water requirements in relation to climate and soil. Soil Sci 125: 240
- Shalhevet J, Levy Y (1990) Citrus trees. In: Stewart A, Nielsen DR (Eds), Irrigation of Agricultural Crops. American Society of Agronomy, Inc., Madison, Wisconsin, USA, pp. 951-986.
- Shalhevet J, Mantell A, Bielorai H, Shimshi D (1981) Irrigation of field and orchard crops under semi-arid conditions (revised). International Irrigation Information Center, Bet Dagan, Israel. Publ. 1. p. 110.
- SinclairT R, Allen L H (1982) Carbon dioxide and water vapour exchange of leaves on field-grown citrus trees. J. Expt. Bot. 33: 1166-1175.
- Slatyer R O (1967) Plant-water relationships. Academic Press, London, New York. 366 p.
- Slavik B (1974) Methods of studying plant water relations. Ecological Studies, Vol 9, Springer- Verlag, New York. 449 p.
- Spreer W, Nagle M, Neidhart S, Carle R, Ongprasert S, Müller J (2007) Effect of regulated deficit irrigation and partial rootzone drying on the quality of mango fruits (Mangifera indica L., cv. 'Chok Anan'). Agric Water Manag 88:173-180.
- Sperry JS, Alder NN, Eastlack SE (1993) The effect of reduced hydraulic conductance on stomatal conductance and xylem cavitation. J Exp Bot 44:1075-1082.
- Spiegel-Roy P, Goldschmidt EE (1996) Biology of Citrus. Cambridge University Press. ISBN 0521 33321

Stanhill G (1986) Water use efficiency. Advances in Agronomy 39, 53-85.

Stewart JI, Hagan EM (1992) Functions to Predict Effects of Crop Water Deficits, Journal of The Irrigation and Drainage Division, ASCE, Vol. 99, No. IR4, Pages 421-439,.

- Stoll M, Loveys B, Dry P (2000) Hormonal changes induced by partial rootzone drying of irrigated grapevine. J Exp Bot 51:1627-1634.
- Streck NA (2003) Stomatal response to water vapor pressure deficit: an unsolved issue. Rev Bras Agrociência 9:317-322.
- Souza CR, Maroco JP, Chaves MM, Santos T, Rodrigues AS, Lopes C, Rodrigues ML, and Pereira JS (2004) Effects of Partial Root Drying on the physiology and production of grapevines. Acta Hort. 646:121-126.
- Syvertsen J P (1982) Minimum leaf water potential and stomatal closure in citrus leaves of different ages. Annals of Botany 49: 827-834.
- Syvertsen J P (1985)CO2 assimilation and water use efficiency of young expanding citrus leaves. Acta Horticulturae, 87: 168-175.
- Syvertsen JP (1985) Integration of water stress in fruit trees. HortScience 20:1039-1043.
- Talluto G, Farina V, Lo Bianco R 2007. Growth, fruit yield and quality of 'Golden Delicious' apple trees under fixed partial rootzone drying. J. of Appl. Hortic. 9: 50-55.
- Talluto G, Farina V, Volpe G, Lo Bianco R (2008) Effects of partial rootzone drying and rootstock vigour on growth and fruit quality of 'Pink Lady' apple trees in Mediterranean environments. Austr J Agric Res 59:785-794.
- Tang LS, Li Y, Zhang JH (2005) Physiological and yield responses of cotton under partial root-zone irrigation. Field Crops Res 94:214–223.
- Tardieu F, Zhang J, Gowing DJG (1993) Stomatal control by both [ABA] in the xylem sap and leaf water status: a test of a model for droughted ABA-fed field-grown maize. Plant Cell Envir 16:413-420.
- Tognetti R, d'Andria R, Lavini A, Morelli G (2006)The effect of deficit irrigation on crop yield and vegetative development of Olea europaea L. (cvs. Frantoio and

Leccino) Europ. J. Agronomy 25: 356–364.

- Tognetti R, d'Andria R, Morelli G, Alvino A(2005) The effect of deficit irrigation on seasonal variations of plant water use in Olea europaea L. Plant Soil 273, 139–155.
- Treeby MT, Henriod RE, Bevington KB, Milne DJ, Storey R (2007) Irrigation management and rootstock effects on navel orange [Citrus sinensis (L.) Osbeck] fruit quality. Agric Water Manag 91:24-32.
- TrimmerWL , Hansen HJ (1994) Irrigation Scheduling. Extension Services of Oregon State University, Washington State University, and University of Idaho. Publication PNW 288.
- Tromp J, Webster A.D, and Wertheim SJ(2005) Fundamental of temperate zone tree fruit production. Backhuys Publishers, leiden, the Netherlands. ISBN 90-5782-152-4.
- Torrecillas A, Ruiz-Sánchez MC, Domingo R, Hernández-Borroto J (1993) Regulated deficit irrigation on Fino lemon trees. Acta Hort 33:205-212.
- Tucker DPH (1986) Citrus irrigation management. Univ. Fla. Coop. Ext. Svc. Circ. 444.
- Tyree MT, Cochard (1996) Summer and winter embolism in oak: impact on water relations. Annales Des Sciences Foretieres 53:173-180.
- Uphoff N (1986) Improving International Irrigation Management with Farmer Participation: Gettingthe Process Right. Studies in Water Policy and Management No. 11. Boulder and London: Westview Press.
- Van Den Honert TH (1948) Water transport in plants as a catenary process. Discuss. Faraday Soc.3.146-153.
- Van Hooijdonk BM, Dorji K, Behboudian MH (2004) Responses of 'Pacific Rose' [™] apple to partial rootzone drying and to deficit irrigation. Eur J Hort Sci 69:104-110.
- Vedula S, MujumdarPP (1973)Optimal Reservoir Operation For Irrigation of Multiple Crops, Water Resource Research, Vol. 28, No. 1, Pages 1-9, .

- Vedula S, Nagesh Kumar D (1996) An Integrated Model For Optimal Reservoir OperationFor Irrigation of Multiple Crops, Water Resource Research Vol. 32, No. 4, Pages 1101-1108.
- Villalobos FJ, Orgaz F, Testi L, Fereres E (2000) Measurement and modeling of evapotranspiration of olive (Olea europaea L.) orchards. Eur. J. Agron. 13, 155–163.
- Wahbi S, Wakrim R, Aganchich B, Tahi H, Serraj R (2005) Effects of partial rootzone drying (PRD) on adult olive tree (Olea europaea) in field conditions under arid climate. Physiological and agronomic responses. Agric Ecosyst Environ 106:289-301.
- Wample RL, Smithyman R (2002) Regulated deficit irrigation as a water management strategy in Vitis vinifera production. FAO Deficit Irrigation Practices: Water Reports 22. Pgs. 89-100. FAO, Rome. ISBN 92-5-104768-5: 89-100.
- Waskom RM (1994) Best management practices for irrigation management. Colorado State, University Cooperative Extension. Bulletin #XCM-173.
- Wensuo Jia, Jianhua Zhang (2008) Stomatal movements and long-distance signaling in plants Plant Signal Behav. 3(10): 772–777.
- Zegbe JA, Behboudian MH (2008) Plant water status, assimilation, yield, and fruit quality of 'Pacific RoseTM' apple under partial rootzone drying. Adv. Hort. Sci. 22: 27-32.
- Zhang JH, Davies WJ (1987) Increased synthesis of ABA in partially dehydrated root tips and ABA transport from roots to leaves. J Exp Bot 38:1174-118.